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Purpose of this report
The South African national parks (SANParks) Honorary Rangers’ (SHR) annual integrated report explains our purpose 
and how we satisfy our members’ need to support conservation in South Africa. We explain the benefits of our members’ 
activities, how we add value to SANParks and the importance of our members’ contributions in conserving our natural 
heritage.

Through this report, we aim to demonstrate our commitment to good governance and to effectively using the resources 
entrusted to us to support South African conservation in our national parks. 

This report may contain forward-looking statements regarding SHR’s funding prospects and performance. While these 
statements represent our expectations when preparing this report, ongoing uncertainties relating to our ability to deliver 
on planned wishlist items and funding may differ from our expectations. 

To honour our conservation mandate and in line with proper fund allocation, this report is only available online

Approval statement
The National Board (the Board) is responsible for the integrity of the integrated report. The Board applied its 
collective mind to the preparation and presentation of this report. The Board is satisfied that it is a fair and reasonable 
representation of the SHR’s performance and prospects. This integrated report was approved by the Board and 
signed on its behalf by:

Paul Colditz
Chairperson
9 September 2022

We are grateful for the pro bono services provided by Monica Roos, Old Shanghai Firecracker Factory
and Alchemy Creative Studios in the design and production of this report.
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Reporting 
period

Materiality Reporting 
approach

Feedback Frameworks 
used

Assurance

This report 
covers the 
period from 1 
April 2021 to 
31 March 2022. 
The comparative 
information is for 
the 12-month 
period from  
1 April 2020 to  
31 March 2021.

We conducted 
a materiality 
assessment 
to determine 
the information 
to include in 
this report. 
We focused 
on matters 
that could 
substantively 
impact our ability 
to create value 
in the short (one 
year), medium 
(two to three 
years) and long 
term (more than 
three years).

We include 
information on our 
member activities 
to demonstrate 
how we add value 
to SANParks 
and conservation 
across our 
geographically 
and 
demographically 
distributed 
organisation.

Please send any 
comments, queries, 
compliments or 
further information 
requests to  
connect@
honoraryrangers.org

This report is 
presented in 
accordance with 
the International 
Integrated 
Reporting 
Council’s (IIRC) 
Integrated 
Reporting 
Framework.

The annual 
financial 
statements 
were prepared 
in accordance 
with International 
Financial 
Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) 
for small and 
medium-sized 
enterprises 
(SMEs) and the 
requirements of 
the Non-profit 
Organisations 
Act 71 of 
1997. Financial 
information 
in this report 
was extracted 
from the 
annual financial 
statements.

The summarised 
annual financial 
statements in 
this report were 
independently 
audited by Woest 
Malan Wenfold 
Inc.

The Board is 
confident that 
other data, 
which was not 
audited, is a fair 
and reasonable 
reflection of the 
organisation’s 
position and 
performance, 
based on internal 
controls used 
to capture 
and report 
on members’ 
contributions to 
SANParks.

How we report

http://connect@honoraryrangers.org
http://connect@honoraryrangers.org
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ABOUT THE SHR



OUR PURPOSE
Volunteers for the love of nature, in support of SANParks. 

CODE OF ETHICS
The SHR is an ethics-driven organisation and, as members, we commit ourselves to the following core values: 

Appreciation 
To recognise and appreciate the 
contributions of volunteers and 
donors. 

Stewardship
To plan and manage our 
resources and particularly our 
natural heritage in the interest of 
an enhanced future. 

Passion
To demonstrate enthusiasm, 
devotion, intensity and tenacity, and 
to totally commit to everything we 
undertake in delivering support and 
volunteer services to SANParks. 

Integrity
To be honest, transparent, 
credible and fair, building on our 
diversity in all our interactions with 
everyone.

Respect
To respect our natural heritage, 
our brand, our policies and 
standards, and our relationships.

Excellence
To deliver exemplary service 
and to always search for better 
ways of doing things through 
our commitment to constant 
improvement in both our personal 
and professional lives.

About the SHR (continued) 
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Constituted in 1964, the SHR 

is organised into a regional 
structure. Each Region and 
National Project has its own 
management committee, looks 
after its own finances and 
activities and decides which of 
the national parks to support.

We are the official SANParks 

volunteer organisation mandated 

by a memorandum of understanding 

(MOU) with SANParks, we are 

a registered public benefit and 

non-profit organisation.

Through a wishlist system the JLC 

approves duties to be undertaken  

by members, capital requirements (i.e. 

financial or equipment requirements) for 

parks, items to be donated as well as 

approved fundraising projects. 

Our members can participate in a wide Range of projects 

that accommodate individual preferences and skills – from 

corporate fundraising activities, on the one hand, to the 

more hands-on physical activities in the bush, for the more 

practically minded.

Mandated by a MOU, the coordination of activities and donations 

between SANParks and SHR takes place in the Joint Liaison 

Committee (JLC), which approves all items to be donated.

Who we are
Our contribution

SANParks and SANParks Honorary Rangers

Raising funds Creating public awareness

Supplying manpower and equipment to conservation, 
tourism and environmental education needs within 
SANParks.

2020
VOLUNTEER MEMBERS

8
NATIONAL 
PROJECTS

23
NATIONAL 
PARKS

30
REGIONS

308 302

R64,8 MILLION

volunteer hours

donated to SANParks 
in cash and kind in 
2021/22
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SHR Regions:
project and duties 

wishlists

Member hours 
and travel

Junior 
Honorary
Rangers

Member skills 
training

About the SHR (continued) 

Joint (SANParks and SHR) 
Liaison Committee:
approved wishlists

Donations to SANParks
(wishlist assets and 

operational expenditure)

Member duties at parks

Financial inputs
Fundraising projects: R14,1million
Donations: R2,9 million
Merchandise sales: R471 059

Financial outputs 
Goods and services to SANParks: R8,0 million

Manufactured
• Minimal infrastructure: trailers, IT systems
• Members often use own or SANParks plant  

and equipment in hosting events

Intellectual
• Our association with SANParks and the 

trademarked SHR brand and logo
• The experience and specialist skills of our 

volunteer members
• More than 58 years of knowledge gained as 

SANParks official volunteer organisation 
• Our internal training courses, which are  

continually updated
• SHR and SANParks policies and procedures

Human
• 2020 volunteers, bringing time, experience,  

skills and expertise 
• Independent Board members and Board 

committee members bringing specific expertise

Social and relationship
• Our stakeholders: SANParks, members, donors 

and sponsors, communities, conservation and 
other NGOs and customers

Natural
• Access to our national parks representing the 

indigenous fauna, flora, landscapes and cultural 
heritage of South Africa

CAPITALS 
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL

Joint (SANParks and SHR) 
Liaison Committee:
approved wishlists

Donations to SANParks
(wishlist assets and 

operational expenditure)

Member duties at parks

Parks management: 
wishlists for assets 

and operations

Project Watchdog 
(canine support 

to Parks)

Donations
R2,9 M

Project Embrace
(counselling to 

Parks’ employees)

Interpretation 
(public education 
and awareness)

Regions
Conservation  

Services
Bush Camps

Sporting events

Fundraising 
events 

R14,1 million

Volunteers for the love of 
nature, in support of SANParks

• Appreciation
• Stewardship
• Passion 

• Integrity 
• Respect
• Excellence

PURPOSE CODE OF ETHICS
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HOW YOU CAN HELP

Most of our contributions to SANParks are raised through internal fundraising and from cash donations. We have 
minimal infrastructure, such as trailers and computer systems, that supports our members’ volunteer services.  
Our members are expected to use their own or SANParks equipment and infrastructure when performing duties.  
We value and rely on the collaboration with our stakeholders.

 
 

 

 

 

 

CONNECTING
Connect with us by
visiting our website
and social media
pages.

www.sanparksvolunteers.org

Participate in our fundraising events
(advertised on our website and
social media).
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/support-an-event

Enquire about produce endorsement 
and sponsorship opportunities.
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/donate/

Join our efforts by becoming a member 
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/volunteer

CLICK 
HERE

CLICK 
HERE

CLICK 
HERE

Report environmental crimes and
poaching incidents.

ANTI-POACHING
HOTLINE

0800 205 005

Visit our website to make a donation. Your donation 
will be allocated to a SANParks wishlist for priority 
conservation needs.
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/donate

FUNDRAISING
EVENTS

SPONSORSHIPS 
AND ENDORSEMENTS

BECOMING 
A MEMBER

MAKE A 
DONATION

REPORTING

CLICK 
HERE

Support for the SANParks  
Honorary Rangers

You can assist by:

https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/support-an-event/
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/support-an-event/
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/donate/
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/donate/
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/volunteer/
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/volunteer/
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/donate/
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/donate/
http://www.facebook.com/SANParksHonoraryRangers/
http://www.facebook.com/SANParksHonoraryRangers/
http://www.instagram.com/sanparks_volunteers/
https://twitter.com/SANParksHR


WAYS TO DONATE

ONLINE DONATIONS
Visit our website to donate online or
scan our QR code.  
www.sanparksvolunteers.org/donate

SUPPORT OUR GIVENGAIN CAMPAIGNS
We have a range of GivenGain campaigns to choose from.
https://www.givengain.com/c/sanparkshr

BEQUESTS
Have you considered leaving a bequest
as a gift to conservation in your will?
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/leave-a-gift-in-your-will-to-conservation

DONATIONS-IN-KIND
Please make contact with your local SHR Region.
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/contact-us/regional-contact-information 

CLICK 
HERE

CLICK 
HERE

CLICK 
HERE

CLICK 
HERE

S H R I NTEG RATE D R E PORT 2022

https://www.givengain.com/c/sanparkshr/
https://www.givengain.com/c/sanparkshr/
http://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/donate
http://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/donate
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/leave-a-gift-in-your-will-to-conservation/
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/leave-a-gift-in-your-will-to-conservation/
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/contact-us/regional-contact-information/ 
https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/contact-us/regional-contact-information/ 
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WE THANK OUR MAJOR DONORS AND PRO BONO SUPPLIERS
Donor Amount

Coca Cola Beverages SA (Pty) Ltd R739 000
Airliner 4 Animals R190 762
Eben Karsten R140 000
MSA Devco (Pty) Ltd R124 800
Gravel Junction Wines and Spirits (Pty) Ltd [Rhino Tears] R116 695
Amplify Investment Partners (Pty) Ltd R100 000
Ambleside Distillers, South Australia R97 295
SASOL Group Services R95 000
Zoo-Verein Wuppertal R86 219
Struwig Trust R82 428
MIP Holdings (Pty) Ltd R72 000
Johan Henn R65 550
Tshepe Adventures R55 000
Iain Power R55 000
Truffle Asset Management (Pty) Ltd R55 000
The Australian Rhino Project R54 055
Zoos South Australia R54 055
Sheva Investments R50 000

Sikkie Kajee

LAYOUT & DESIGN
Mobile: 084 418 5226  

roosmonica702@gmail.com

Monica Roos

Support for the SANParks Honorary Rangers  
(continued) 
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REPORT
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1 Copyright and trademarks are owned by the IoDSA and all of its rights are reserved.

Chairperson’s Report
“The total value of the SHR contribution to SANParks 
was just below R76 million, a significant increase on 
pre-COVID-19 levels.”

Introduction
It is a great relief that in the second half of the 2021/22 financial year we saw something of a return to normality after 
the devastating effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic severely reduced tourism activity, one of our biggest 
sources of fundraising and donor funding, and the successive lockdowns and liquor bans were felt in our merchandising 
fundraising. The impact on our members was also significant, mostly through event cancellations, and activities and 
opportunities to render volunteer services to SANParks. 

The SHR was well positioned going into the pandemic, with a healthy accumulated bank surplus that allowed us to 
weather the period of reduced income, and at the same time to still provide COVID-19 relief to impacted communities 
bordering national parks. The Re-engineering Programme, a multiyear initiative encompassing structural and operational 
changes to align to best practice governance standards as articulated in the King Report on Corporate Governance1 

for South Africa, 2016 (King IV), was largely completed before the start of the pandemic. However, the inability to meet 
in person and a reduction in volunteer activities made embedding the cultural and operational elements of the new 
structure far more challenging. 

Overview of the 2021/22 financial year
Our surplus before taxation for 2021/22 remained relatively flat year on year at R1,57 million. We are gratified that a 
28% increase in donations and support to SANParks from R6,38 million to R8,00 million is absorbed in the surplus. 
Fundraising increased 48% year on year, largely due to increasing levels of tourism activity. Administration costs 
remained flat year on year at R2,64 million. Our gross profit percentage remains significantly higher than pre-COVID-19 
levels (2021/22 at 64% compared to 2020 at 55% and 2019 at 45%). We expect this to reduce to pre-COVID-19 
levels despite our strategic focus on improving the commerciality of SHR fundraising activities.

Member activity has picked up considerably, with a 38% increase in total hours volunteered to 308 302 hours and 
a 67% increase in kilometres travelled to 2,58 million kilometres. Costed at higher-than-previous rates of R175 per 
hour (prior year: R150 per hour) and R4,22 per kilometre (prior year: R3,94), member contribution for the 2021/22 
financial year reached R64,8 million. Adding the R8 million in donations to SANParks and a further R3 million spend 
on accommodation in SANParks, the total value of the SHR contribution to SANParks was just below R76 million, a 
significant increase on pre-COVID-19 levels. 

In support of this achievement, the average SHR member donated 153 hours of their time, almost back to the equivalent 
of the working hours of a full month donated on average by each member prior to the pandemic.

Looking forward
Although our activities have returned to pre-COVID-19 levels, and most COVID-19-related restrictions have been 
removed, we still find ourselves challenged by the prevailing economic environment, characterised by unemployment, 
low growth and high inflation. We expect that these conditions will continue to impact our donors and members, but that 
these effects will be counteracted by a full year of fundraising and volunteer activities and services. 

 The considerable progress made in entrenching the Re-engineering Programme has been supported by increased 
leadership and governance training. This positions us well as a credible and trusted beneficiary as donor funds channel 
away from pandemic relief to other causes, of which mitigating climate change impacts is expected to be an increasingly 
important topic.



Appreciation
We express our heartfelt gratitude to our donors and sponsors, as well as those who provide pro-bono services and who 
attend our tourism and other fundraising events. We are most grateful for the continuing support despite the tumultuous 
times. 

Our relationship with SANParks remains strong, and the two organisations collaborate at all levels. We are working 
towards providing more to SANParks in terms of fundraising and in the scope of services provided. We will do our 
utmost to rise up to the challenge. 

I am very grateful to the Board, Executive Committee (Exco), Chairpersons’ Committee, regional management committees 
and National Projects for their leadership and hard work. 

Our members have exhibited substantial resilience in the face of organisational and global changes, and we are grateful 
that the volunteer activity has returned to normal levels. It is humbling to see what our members can achieve in the spirit 
of freely volunteering. 

Paul Colditz
Chairperson
9 September 2022

S H R I NTEG RATE D R E PORT 2022
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Material matters
The Board worked through the 2021 material matters as part of the strategy review outlined on page 22. 

The 2022 updated material matters are:

1. Volunteers

 Volunteers are the heart of the SHR. With only three employees, one responsible for administration and two in the 
finance area, everything else is managed by volunteers. Providing a conducive, enabling environment for volunteers 
to express their love for nature and passion for conservation through giving of their time, effort and expertise is the 
core of the SHR purpose.

2. SANParks relationship 

 The SHR exists to support SANParks. The SHR therefore has to be experienced as continuously adding value to 
SANParks as a trustworthy and diligent partner. The relationship with SANParks is managed at all levels of the SHR 
organisation. 

3. Economic environment and impact of the pandemic

 It is encouraging to see tourism and travel activities returning to normal. However, the SHR and many donors have 
been heavily impacted by the negative effects of the pandemic on tourism and leisure activities. Economic outlook 
remains bleak given the war in Ukraine and the inflation impact.

4. Financial sustainability

 Although the recovery in tourism activities, one of the SHR’s major fundraising areas has helped, the SHR still needs 
to diversify its sources of funding and continuously manage costs across the organisation, from administration to 
offering tourism products.

5. Reputation risk 

 As a non-government organisation (NGO), reputation is everything and the SHR has to ensure that funds are spent 
responsibly and appropriately to support SANParks, that SHR members manage their public interactions with the 
right level of respect, and that the SHR retains its commitment to and makes progress towards transformation. 

6. Digitisation

 Accelerated digitisation in many of the sectors supporting SHR due to the pandemic creates new fundraising 
opportunities. Further, though, digitisation creates opportunities to reduce the administration burden on volunteers. 

7. Marketing and branding 

 Brand awareness remains a crucial step in support of many SHR fundraising activities. The SHR brand, despite 
using the SANParks ‘Kudukop’, remains relatively unknown.

8. Organisational effectiveness

 Given that much of the SHR’s functions are run by volunteers, internal processes need to be as efficient as possible 
to limit the administration overhead. Further, finding and recruiting core management skills among the volunteer 
corps remains challenging.

9. Political instability 

 Political instability has a material impact on consumer, business and investor confidence and rebuilding damaged 
infrastructure reduces the funds available to support conservation.

Our changing world (material matters)



10. Community involvement 

 Communities have been significantly impacted the effects of the pandemic on tourism and by rapidly increasing 
inflation. Community financial security is essential to protect neighbouring national parks and to maintain the 
conservation imperative. 

11. Opportunity to use the six capitals more effectively

 The SHR uses significant accumulated capital, as outlined on page 8, comprising more than 58 years of relationships 
and operating experience, as well as a large volunteer corps. The opportunity therefore exists for the SHR to 
significantly increase the value it creates for SANParks. 

12. Climate change

 Although climate change is seen as one of the greatest threats to humanity at persent, of the most relevance from 
the SHR’s perspective is the impact on communities (food security and water scarcity) and threatened species. 
While unable to spearhead the fight against climate change, the SHR supports SANParks and other organisations 
in this imperative. The SHR also faces a challenge in the use of fossil fuels in the 2,58 million kilometres travelled 
by members to do duties for SANParks. 

S H R I NTEG RATE D R E PORT 2022
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Approach to risk and compliance
We established a risk and compliance function through the Exco in September 2020. This function, however, lost its volunteer 
resources in 2021 and needs to be recapacitated. Key areas that received focus during the 2021/22 financial year include:

• Protection of Personal Information Act (POPIA) compliance: POPIA-related policies were approved at the  
September 2021 annual general meeting (AGM), and the Exco focused on standard operating procedures and supporting 
infrastructure to ensure POPIA compliance from July 2021

• Accident and liability insurance: SHR members serving SANParks are covered by SANParks’ insurance. Members were 
informed of its limits and that there is no cover for member activity outside national parks.  

How we manage our stakeholders
Stakeholder Value description Value added in 2021/22 Outlook

SANParks Donation of services, 
wishlist items and 
expertise

• Combined value of donations, 
hours and kilometres: R75,9 
million

• Average of 153 hours per 
member 

Increased support for SANParks and 
enhanced collaboration through multiregion 
park cluster forums (page 27).

Members Activities organised 
by Regions and 
National Projects, 
and through webinars 
and electronic 
communication

• 26 webinars in total:

- Open to SHR members only – 7 
- Open to the public – 17
- Joint SHR and SANParks – 7

• One open strategy session 

• 8 National Projects 

• 30 Regions

Member activities have returned to and 
in some cases exceeded pre-pandemic 
levels but this may be tempered in future by 
increasing costs, especially fuel, for members 
who reside far away from national parks.

The proposed Collaboration Agreement will 
provide members with additional and new 
activities.

Donors and 
sponsors

Opportunity to 
contribute to 
SANParks

• Recognition as per  
page 12 and page 105.

Increased focus on national fundraising will 
identify new sources of funds.

Several major donors are in the tourism sector 
which we expect to remain under pressure in 
the medium term. 

Rising inflation and the consequences of 
political unrest, especially in KwaZulu-Natal, 
also put our donors under pressure.

The ongoing re-engineering process will 
further entrench good governance over donor 
funds.

Customers Opportunity to 
experience national 
parks in unusual ways

• Four different bush camps 
offerings 

• 20+ birding weekends 

• 5 major sporting events

• 17 public webinars

Increasing marketing activity makes access 
to our products more accessible particularly 
through our website and social media 
platforms.

We plan to expand the number of tourism 
products offered to customers in line with 
improving member and economic activity.

Communities 
around 
SANParks 

COVID-19 and other 
support

• Provision of food parcels,  
water tanks and personal 
protective equipment (PPE) 

Significantly increasing focus on socio-
economic development opportunities.

Mitigating the impact of climate change by 
supporting SANParks to improve food and 
water security.

Support for local communities through 
relevant member activities.

Conservation 
and other 
NGOs 

Collaboration on 
projects

• 2 joint webinars 

• 1 collaborative project in Table 
Mountain National Park

We plan to expand and formalise the 
opportunities to work together on conservation 
projects and tourism products, and through 
more joint webinars. We have established a 
good base from which to work.

Our changing world (material matters) (continued) 
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SHR Strategy Evolution

• Board, Exco and Chairpersons

• 12-month plan

• Honorary Rangers giving our 

best to conserve our natural 

heritage

• Member experience, branding, 

reengineering, process  

and technology

• Board, Exco and Chairpersons

• Create a foundation for   

the CEO

• Code of Ethics

• SED, member experience,  

IT, marketing

2018 2019

Strategy

Strategy formulation
Since 2018, the SHR has followed a consistent strategic direction of (1) re-engineering the organisation to align to 
best practice governance standards; (2) simultaneously seeking to create significantly increased value for SANParks 
while (3) reducing the administration overhead on volunteers. Common themes over the past five years cover brand 
awareness, member experience (through technology and process improvements) and, after COVID-19, greater focus on 
fundraising and financial sustainability. Although the strategic focus was rapidly moved to support for local communities 
in 2020, the SHR continues along its strategic journey as illustrated below. The strategy process has incrementally 
involved more SHR volunteers, starting with full leadership, and now leveraging digital means and inviting the entire 
organisation. The 2022 strategy session was attended by some 200 volunteers. 
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• Open to SHR

• Multiyear strategy setting

• Volunteers for the love of 

nature, in support of SANParks 

• Financial sustainability, unified 

organisation (purpose led, 

value driven), stakeholder 

management, revitalise 

member experience, 

putting SHR on the map, 

transformation

• Open to SHR

• COVID-19 community support

• Webinars

• Social media presence

• Re-engineering  

(Implementation of Board 

committees and of Exco)

20212020
Response to pandemic

In keeping with the consistent, multiyear strategy, the 2022 strategy cycle consisted primarily of reviewing the strategic 
imperatives identified in 2021. At the strategy workshop, the Code of Ethics and internal communication received 
specific attention. Those members who attended were highly supportive of the Code of Ethics. They further felt that 
internal communication at Board and Exco was effective, but that there was a greater need for training on how the  
SHR functions (encapsulated in the role clarification initiative on page 24) and for increased inter-regional and National 
Project communication. 
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Strategy (continued) 

Strategy outcomes and implementation progress
In 2021, 20 strategic initiatives were identified and nine were prioritised into a short-term focus. The nine initiatives were 
further consolidated as follows:

Focus area Initiative
Material matter 
impacted Progress

Financial 
sustainability

Fundraising 
(three separate 
items)

1, 2, 3, 4, 7, 11 A multipronged fundraising strategy has been developed 
and socialised. Most of the initiatives have been 
capacitated, although there is still an urgent need for an 
overall project manager

Financial 
sustainability

Commercialise 
existing activities

2, 3, 4, 5, 11 The initial focus has been on region and project budgeting 
to start introducing the necessary organisational 
disciplines

Unified 
organisation 
(purpose led, 
values driven)

Role clarification 1,5, 8, 11 Training was provided to Board members and the Exco. 
Governance training was rolled out to the leadership.  
A leadership induction programme is being developed for 
operational management 

Stakeholder 
management

SANParks 
relationship (two 
items)

2, 5, 10 An updated agreement has largely been finalised. It 
encompasses broader ways of working and additional 
areas where the SHR can support SANParks. Regular 
engagements between the Board and SANParks Exco 
are planned. Three have been held to date on roughly an 
annual basis. 

Revitalise 
member 
experience

Improved and 
sustainable 
member 
experience

1, 2, 4, 6, 11 The Chairpersons’ Committee (page 45) created capacity 
to investigate how better to support members

Unified 
organisation 
(purpose led, 
values driven)

Roll out of Code 
of Ethics

1, 5 The Chairpersons’ Committee is working with regional 
leadership to entrench the Code of Ethics in the 
organisation 

Work has started on an additional initiative, originally identified in the 20, but not prioritised for the short term.  
The additional initiative falls within the unified organisation focus area and intends to restructure all the SHR policies, 
and where appropriate, rely on principles rather than rules, or create detailed standard operating procedures. This 
initiative is targeting the 2024 AGM.

Future outlook
The Board believes that this is a well-balanced portfolio of strategic initiatives, which if successfully implemented,  
will greatly enhance the financial sustainability of the SHR and complete the re-engineering governance transformation 
of the SHR.
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Performance scorecard
Aside from strategy delivery, we measure our organisational performance against the objectives below and compare 
them to the previous 12 months. 

Key Performance Metrics 2021/22 2020/21

Variance 
against

prior year

Funds raised (donations, fundraising  
and merchandising) R18 127 143 R12 467 689 45%

Investment revenue R682 406 R716 722 -5%

Administration costs R2 635 370 R2 639 154 0% =
Funds utilised for the benefit of SANParks R8 002 405 R6 261 123 28%

Accommodation and services from SANParks R3 159 405 Not reported n/a =
Member hours 308 302 228 609 35%
Rate per hour R 175 R 150  

Member hours value R53 952 850 R34 291 350 57%

Member kilometres (km) 2 573 027 1 540 360 67%
Rate per km R4,22 R3,94  

Member km value R10 858 174 R6 069 018 79%

Total value of member contribution to SANParks R64 811 024 R40 360 368 61%

Total value contributed to SANParks R75 972 834 R46 621 491 63%

Number of members 2 020 2 102 -4%

Average member hours per annum 153 109 40%
Number of historically disadvantaged individual (HDI) 
members 249 229 9%

HDI member percentage 12% 11% 13%

Number of Management Committees with HDIs 7 8 -13%
Public Education and Awareness Programme event 
hours 1 031 729 41%

Junior Honorary Rangers Project hours 2 640 1 521 74%

Interpretation National Project hours 42 97 -57%

Skills development project hours 19 717 12 173 62%

Value from our members
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Governance of support to SANParks 
A strategic forum, comprising representatives from the SHR Exco and Board and the SANParks Exco, was established 
to expand the support provided by the SHR into new areas as articulated below. The ultimate intention is to replace the 
existing Memorandum of Understanding with a Collaborative Agreement. Each area of cooperation will be an addendum 
to the new agreement. The current wishlist process will only represent one of these addenda. 

The wishlist process has been operational for many years and provides a platform for the delivery of priority items to 
SANParks, and the approval of projects and duties to be performed by members. Only items, projects and duties 
approved as per the wishlists may be fulfilled by the SHR. 

The SHR followed an extensive process in compiling the various wishlists during the last quarter of the financial year. 
These wishlists are approved at the Joint Liaison Committee (JLC) meeting, an operational structure comprising SHR 
and SANParks representatives, tasked to oversee the management of the wishlists.

Items and projects not included and approved with the annual wishlists submitted to the JLC are submitted for approval 
at quarterly JLC meetings. A review of the fulfilment of the wishlist items by our members takes place during these 
meetings.

Wishlist item handover to SANParks is carefully managed and controlled. We capture all items handed over on the 
Repsly App, which records details such as receipt of the asset, signatures, photos, geographic location, date and 
SANParks asset register number. The reports from Repsly are reconciled against the SANParks asset register and the 
SHR general ledger. 

Broadening our support to SANParks
SANParks formally requested that the SHR consider broadening our areas of support to render assistance on various 
matters relevant to the management and operation of national parks, where the main areas of cooperation in the form 
of workstreams, could be the following:

1. Information and communications technology (ICT): The SHR can provide expert advisory services in 
implementing ICT operating systems that reinforce the role of unified communications and the integration of 
telecommunications and computers, as well as necessary software, storage and audio-visual to enable SANParks 
to access and store information for effective and efficient operating systems.

2. Infrastructure maintenance: We previously assisted SANParks with the services of professional engineers. This 
workstream now incorporates infrastructure and equipment upkeep and maintenance so that infrastructure and 
assets can continuously be in a functional state for daily operational use.

3. Fundraising: Fundraising and procurement of goods and equipment, where identified for specific projects, with 
the focus on the process of seeking and gathering voluntary financial contributions on behalf of and in the interest 
of SANParks through several projects, events and initiatives to ensure the effective and efficient management of 
national parks. This function is fulfilled through the wishlist process described above.

4. Skills transfer and development in the workplace: Expanding our current skills development work for 
members (page 78) to skills development for SANParks employees.

5. Operations: Focus on achieving ongoing service excellence in rendering support services and performing  
duties in national parks as and when required to ensure effective and efficient service delivery to internal and  
external customers, including visitors to national parks. This function is fulfilled through the wishlist process 
described above.

6. Environmental awareness: Creating a greater awareness of the beauty of national parks and the role parks 
play in protecting the environment. Encourage ongoing learning and understanding of national parks, including the 
understanding of cause-and-effect relationships between the quality of the environment and human behaviour, and 
a sense of responsibility for protecting national parks among visitors, employees, local communities, the youth and 
school pupils. 

7. Tourism: Making visits to national parks as meaningful and enriched as possible through brand marketing and 
activities in national parks. Assist with tourism activities that provide meaningful and enriched experiences to visitors 
and promote responsible tourism in national parks by creating destinations for nature-based tourism in a manner 
that is not harmful to the environment while experiencing the beauty and diversity of national parks during a pleasant 
and informative stay. This function is fulfilled through the wishlist process described above.

The SHR and SANParks will continue collaborating to further identify and clarify support opportunities and determine 
new workstream processes to provide the above services. 

Value from our members (continued)
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Operating model (national and regional projects)
The Exco comprises three paid employees, two in finance (including the finance executive/treasurer) and the administration 
executive. The remaining Exco portfolios are filled by volunteers and include the Chief Executive; Operations Manager 
– North; Operations Manager – South; Operations Manager – National Projects; General Manager – Information and 
Technology; General Manager – Marketing and Public Relations; General Manager – Legal. Portfolios to be filled by 
volunteers include General Manager – Fundraising; General Manager – Compliance and Risk; General Manager – 
Business Development; and General Manager – Socio-Economic Transformation.

The Exco depends on constant communication and constructive debate with the Chairpersons’ Committee and, to 
this end, invites a Chairpersons’ Committee representative to attend monthly meetings to ensure transparent and open 
communication. The Chairpersons’ Committee reciprocates by having Exco members present at bimonthly meetings on 
strategic and operational matters.

Every park has a cluster forum comprising committed regions, that coordinates the SHR’s efforts to fulfil project and 
duty wishlist items agreed to and prioritised by SANParks. Collaboration among regions has broadened the scope and 
involvement opportunities for more member participation. 

Financial report
Overview
The SHR raises funds from various sources to support SANParks through a jointly approved wishlist process.  
The results for the year depend on the revenue generated and the level of expenditure on the wishlist items noted above. 
The surplus for the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to R1 566 252 (2021: R1 454 016).

Revenue generation was substantially higher in the 2022 financial year, amounting to R18 144 073 (2021: R12 601 924). 
This was due to the easing of COVID-19 regulations in stages throughout the year. Revenue on fundraising projects  
amounted to R14 056 850 (2021: R9 102 787). Donations amounted to R2 895 256 (2021: R2 445 106)

Cash reserves decreased slightly to R22 245 599 (2021: R23 060 163) primarily resulting from increased expenditure 
on SANParks wishlist items. 

Annual financial statements
Summary financial statements
The summary financial statements presented below comprise a summary of the audited financial statements of the 
organisation for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The audited financial statements, prepared by Woest Malan Wenhold Inc, were approved by the Board on 16 July 2022 
and a copy is available on our website (https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/about-us/reports/).

Basis of preparation
The annual financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis in accordance IFRS for SMEs, and in 
compliance with the applicable requirements of the Non-Profit Organisations Act 71 of 1997.

These financial statements were prepared on the historical cost basis and are presented in South African Rand.  
The accounting policies are consistent with the previous financial year.

The summary financial statements presented below should be read with the audited financial statements of the 
organisation for the year ended 31 March 2022.

https://www.sanparksvolunteers.org/about-us/reports/
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Value from our members (continued)

Summary statement of financial position

31 March 2022 31 March 2021

ASSETS

Fixed assets 298 472 144 904 

Trade and other receivables 7 090 741 4 228 190 

Cash and cash equivalents 22 245 599 23 060 163 

TOTAL ASSETS 29 634 812 27 433 257 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   

Equity: Accumulated surplus 26 701 452 25 135 200 

Current liabilities: Trade and other payables 2 933 360 1 717 339 

Deferred income – 580 718 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 29 634 812 27 433 257 

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables increased due to the reinstatement of all sporting and entertainment fundraising events which had to 
be cancelled under the COVID-19 restrictions in the previous financial year.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables comprise mostly income received in advance for bookings of fundraising events to take place 
in the next financial year. These amounts may have to be refunded in case of cancellation of activities.

Deferred income
Deferred Income comprises revenue from invoices issued but not paid and relating to events in the following financial 
year. Improvements in the accounting process corrected this practice and therefore a zero balance is reflected for the 
year ended 31 March 2022.

Finance Summary 2022/2021 comparative graph
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Revenue
The revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022 improved significantly due to the relaxation of COVID-19 restrictions.

Donations R2 895 256 

Merchandise Sales R471 059 

Skills development R97 853 

Fundraising Projects R14 056 850

Levies and Membership Fees R606 125 

Summary statement of comprehensive income

31 March 2022
R

31 March 2021
R

REVENUE

Donations 2 895 256 2 445 106 

Fundraising projects 14 056 850 9 102 787 

Insurance claims 16 930 – 

Levies and membership fees 606 125 508 001 

Merchandise sales 471 059 464 880 

Skills development 97 853 81 150 

Total revenue 18 144 073 12 601 924

Cost of sales: purchases for fundraising and merchandise (6 605 522)  754 444

GROSS SURPLUS 11 538 551  9 754 444

Operating expenses

Donations and support to SANParks (8 002 405) (6 377 996)

Administrative expenses (2 652 300) (2 639 154)

Total operating expenses (10 654 705) (9 017 150)

Net surplus from operating activities 883 846 737 294 

Investment revenue 682 406 716 722 

Surplus for the year 1 566 252 1 454 016 

Opening retained income 25 135 200 23 681 184 

Closing retained income 26 701 452 25 135 200 
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Fundraising projects
Fundraising projects are the largest source of revenue for the SHR and the surplus from these events contributes to the 
SHR’s ability to fulfil SANParks wishlist requests. The surplus on fundraising events was well managed and resulted in 
the achieved surplus for the year. The net revenue (surplus) from each fundraising activity is shown in the below graph.

Net fundraising revenue

Bushcamps R1 763 453 

Other Fundraising Events R1 793 036 

Merchandise Sales R80 045 

Birding Events R860 283 

Entertainment Events R1 599 835 

Sporting Events R1 401 551 

Nett fundraising activities revenue

31 March 2022

Birding events 860 283 

Bush camps 1 763 453 

Entertainment events 1 599 835 

Other fundraising events 1 746 161 

Merchandise sales 80 045 

Sporting events 1 401 551 

Total fundraising revenue 7 451 328 

Donations and support to SANParks
The amount of donations and direct support to SANParks increased to R8 002 (2021: R6 377 996). In addition to 
the direct monetary support to SANParks, fundraising events are held in the national parks where accommodation  
and camps are purchased from SANParks. This amounted to R3 159 405. Total monetary spend on SANParks was 
R11 161 810. This represents 61,5% of total income for the financial year ended 31 March 2022. 

Value from our members (continued)
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Administrative expenses

31 March 2022
R/thousand

Accounting, consulting and professional fees 67 

Administration costs 62 

Advertising and marketing 77 

Auditors' remuneration 38 

Bad Debts provision 96 

Bank charges 29 

Depreciation 148 

Employee costs 1 610 

Small assets 56 

Sundry other expenses 158 

Travel costs 312 

Total 2 653 

Administration costs amounted to R2 652 300 being 23% of gross surplus and 14,6% of gross income  
(2021: R2 639 154, being 27% of gross surplus and 20,9 % of gross income). Provision for bad debts and increased 
travelling expenses contributed to the increase in expenses.

Summary statement of cash flows

31 March 2022
R

31 March 2021
R

Cash used in operations (1 194 965) (2 268 581)

Purchase of equipment and trailers (302 005) (77 404)

Investment income (interest received) 682 406 716 722 

Total cash movement for the year (814 564) (1 629 263)

Cash at beginning of the year 23 060 163 24 689 426 

Total cash at end of the year 22 245 599 23 060 163 
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Independent auditor’s report on annual financial statements
This statement is extracted from the annual financial statements, a copy of which can be found on our website. This 
extract should be read with the annual financial statements.

Opinion
We have audited the SHR annual financial statements set out on pages 10 to 17, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity 
and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the annual financial statements, including a summary 
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the annual financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of SHR as 
at 31 March 2022, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS for 
SMEs and the requirements of the Non-Profit Organisations Act 71 of 1997.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the annual financial statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the organisation in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ 
Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable 
to performing audits of annual financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits 
in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards). We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Other information
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
document titled “SANParks Honorary Rangers annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022”, which 
includes the Board’s report as required by the Non-Profit Organisations Act 71 of 1997 and the statement of financial 
performance, which we obtained prior to the date of this report. The other information does not include the annual 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the annual financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the annual financial statements, our responsibility is ·to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the annual financial statements, or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board for the annual financial statements
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS for SMEs and the requirements of the Non-Profit Organisations Act 71 of 199 7, and for such internal control as 
the board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of annual financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual financial statements, the Board is responsible for assessing the organisation’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the Board either intend to liquidate the organisation or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Value from our members (continued)
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Annual Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
organisation’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Board.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the organisation’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the annual 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the organisation to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the annual financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

We communicate with the board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Woest Malan Wenhold Inc. Chartered Accountants (SA)
Registered Auditors

21 July 2022
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GOVERNANCE
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Governance

The SHR is committed to good governance as articulated in King IV to achieve the core outcomes 
of an ethical culture, good performance, effective control and legitimacy. 

The Board is satisfied with the application of corporate governance in 2021/22 as recommended by 
King IV on a proportional basis for the size and nature of the SHR. 

Governance outcomes
Ethical culture
The SHR Code of Ethics, supported by the acronym ASPIRE (page 6) was completed in the 2019/2020 financial  
year. The current focus is on ensuring that the Code is a living document, adopted by and meaningful to all SHR 
members. The Chairpersons’ Committee undertook an initiative of working with the leadership structure across the 
SHR to this end. 

Each of the governing bodies outlined on pages 38 to 45 has appointed an ethics watchdog to ensure that meetings 
are conducted in line with the Code of Ethics. 

Three whistleblower line reports were received in the 2021/22 financial year, all relating to the same matter, which has 
since been investigated. 

To ensure that Board members understand their responsibilities, training tailored to the SHR was provided through  
the IoDSA. 

Good performance
The Board, with the Exco and Chairpersons’ Committee, formulates strategy as outlined on page 26. 

Although key performance indicators have been implemented for the Chief Executive, this practice still needs to be rolled 
out across the Exco. Regular financial reporting has improved considerably over the period and budgeting processes 
continue to improve. 

The Board and each Board committee has an annual workplan to ensure that all governance matters are timeously 
completed. 

Effective control
The Audit and Risk Committee (ARCo) plans to focus on improving financial oversight and reporting during the current 
financial year, and oversee the implementation of a risk management methodology and risk register. The Board and 
ARCo recognise that more focus is required in these areas (see page 44).

The losses experienced early in the financial year from fraudulent and incorrect payments were stemmed through 
additional controls, and the controls over the wishlist process provide assurance that donor money is spent effectively 
and responsibly (page 22)

Legitimacy
This report serves as our annual reporting to stakeholders, including members. Our approach to stakeholder management 
is outlined on page 24. 

The Board is aware that more is required to transform the SHR to better match and serve the demographics of  
South Africans.
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Governance (continued)

 

Total Board
members

11

Independent
members

2
Executive
members

2 Female African,
Coloured 

and Indian 

Non-executive 
members

9
36.4% 27,3%

Board statistics as at 1 July 2022

SKILLS AND EXPERTISE

Nature conservation management 1,2

Transformation 1,5

Socioeconomic development 1,25

1,50,5 2,521

1,15Fundraising

1,15Tourism management

1,2Risk and compliance management

2,1Strategy and strategic planning

1,4Corporate governance

2,05Human resources, appointments, skills development, succession planning

1,45
Information technology and 
communications, digitisation and data

1,55Accounting and auditing
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NATIONAL BOARD
To serve as the governing body of the 
SHR and to oversee the promotion and 
implementation of the vision, mission and 
objectives of the SHR

CHAIRPERSONS’
COMMITTEE
Chairperson
Simon Ridge
Vice-Chairperson
Louis Lemmer

To promote liaison and information 
sharing between members and 
the Board and to advise the 
Board on and to advise the Board 
on member needs.

BOARD 
COMMITTEES
To assist the Board in its
functions as delegated in the
committee charters
• Social, Ethics and Strategy (SESCo)
• Nomination, Remuneration and 

Human Resources (NRHRCo)
• Audit and Risk (ARC)
• Information Technology (ITCo)

MADE UP OF
• Regional Chairpersons
• National Project Chairpersons
• National Board and   

Exco attendees

PORTFOLIO
COMMITTEES
• Focused portfolio committees
• National Project management 

committees

COVID-19 
RESPONSE
• Exco COVID-19 task team

Executive Centre
Responsible for the daily
management of the SHR

Exco

Regional management
committees

STRUCTURE
• Seven elected SHR members
• Two executive members
• Two independent members



Governance (continued)

National Board
Members and attendance 

Paul Colditz (Chairperson) 9/9

Ghita Erling (Vice-Chairperson) 9/9

Hansie Bothma 9/9

Frances Feig1 5/5

Lana Kinley 8/9

Francois Kloppers 9/9

Amos Mdluli 8/9

Germari Pieterse2 4/4

Ashraf Sayed 9/9

Jimmy Telle3 3/3

David Webster 9/9

Vikeshni Vandayar2 4/4
1  Joined in September 2021
2 Term concluded in September 2021
3  Appointed Chief Executive and Executive Board member in November 2021

40

© Derek Arnoldi Photography



S H R I NTEG RATE D R E PORT 2022



42

Governance (continued)

Board members as at 1 July 2022

Paul Colditz (68)

• Chairperson: National Board, 
Chairperson: Social, Ethics and 
Strategy Board Committee, 
Member: Nomination, 
Remuneration and Human 
Resources Board Committee

• BA, LL.B, Certificate in 
Constitutional Litigation

• Joined September 2019

Hansie Bothma (65)

• Executive member:  
National Board, SHR 
General Finance Manager

• Joined April 2021

Ghita Erling (50)

• Vice Chairperson: National 
Board, Chairperson Nomination, 
Remuneration and Human 
Resource Committee, Member: 
Social, Ethics and Strategy 
Committee

• BSc; MSc (Eng); DipABRSM
• Joined September 2019

Frances Feig (71)

• Member: National Board
• BA; TTHD, H Dip 

Communication Studies
• Joined September 2021

Francois Kloppers (77)

• Member: National Board
• Joined September 2019

Amos Mdluli (48)

• Independent Member:  
National Board

• Human Resources 
Management Diploma, 
Administrative Clerk Diploma, 
Hospitality Management 
Diploma

• Joined April 2021

Lana Kinley (63)

• Member: National Board, 
Member: Nominations, 
Remuneration and   
HR Committee

• Chairperson: Audit and Risk 
Committee

• CA(SA), Associate CIMA
• Joined September 2019
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David Webster (64)

• Member: National Board; 
Chairperson: Information and 
Technology National Board 
Committee

• Joined September 2019

Jimmy Telle (56)

• Executive member: National 
Board, SHR Chief Executive

• Professional Accountant, 
Registered Tax Practitioner, 
Qualified Scuba Instructor 
Trainer, First Aid Instructor, 
Nature Site Guide

• Joined November 2021

Ashraf Sayed (50)

• Member: National Board
• BSc (Quantity Surveying) 

Hons; Higher Dip (Game 
Ranging); Catsseta Trails 
Guide L4; Ndip Nature  
Consv - 1st year in progress

• Joined September 2020

Julia Sefako (39)

• Member: National Board
• Certified Director, Certified 

Ethics Officer, Compliance 
Certification, M(Phil) Applied 
Ethics, MBL, BCom(Hons), 
BCom

• Joined June 2022
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Governance (continued)

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)
The ARC’s purpose is to assist the Board in governing 
the financial and risk management of the SHR to ensure: 

• Financial statements properly reflect financial results 
and records 

• Financial systems, including the system of internal 
controls, provide financial integrity 

• Maintaining the integrity of integrated reporting 

• Monitoring compliance with laws and regulations 
regularly 

• The assurance process is effective and independent 

• Risk management systems provide comprehensive, 
timely and relevant disclosure of risk and effective risk 
management plans 

Members and attendance 

Lana Kinley (Chairperson1) 6/6

Germari Pieterse (Chairperson2) 4/4

Eva Noble 10/10

Leonie Meyer3 2/2

Rolf van Staden3 2/2
1 Appointed September 2021
2 Resigned September 2021
3 Resigned July 2021

Focus areas 
• Engaged with management to identify areas for 

improvement in financial oversight and reporting

• Engaged with management in ensuring that the 
administrative expenses of the organisation are 
properly funded

• Reviewed brand risk for the organisation

• Assessed tax compliance with regards to income tax

• Involved with appointment of external audit

• Engaged with external audit process

• Reviewed the integrated report and recommended 
it to the Board for approval for the year ended 31 
March 2022

• Reviewed the annual financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2022 and recommended them to 
the Board for approval

Focus areas for the 2022/23 financial year 
The ARC workplan is governed by its charter. The main 

focus for the next financial year is as follows:

• Monitor the implementation of enhancements to 
financial oversight and reporting processes 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of the risk management 
methodology and regularly review the risk register 
prepared by management

Nominations, Remuneration and Human 
Resources Committee (NRHRCo)
The NRHRCo’s purpose is to assist the Board in 
governance people practices of the SHR to ensure:

• The SHR’s Board, Exco and other management and 
governance structures have the necessary skills and 
experience to fulfil their responsibilities 

• The SHR has appropriate form and level of 
remuneration to attract and retain the required human 
resources 

• The Board, while non-remunerated, has appropriate 
expense recovery mechanisms for Board members

• SHR people management practices promote an 
ethical culture of engaged, high-performance 
employees and support the organisation’s 
transformation objectives 

Members and attendance

Ghita Erling (Chairperson) 5/5

Paul Colditz 5/5

Lana Kinley 5/5

Louis Lemmer 4/5

Riaan Potgieter 5/5

Vikeshni Vandayar 1 1/1

1  Resigned April 2021

Focus areas 
• Leadership development

• More detailed assessment of Board and Board 
committee skills

• Appointment of the Chief Executive

Focus areas for the 2022/23 financial year 
• Co-option of a second Independent Board member

• Ensuring the Board has the necessary skills to fulfil its 
duties

• Ensuring that Exco has the right skills and support to 
manage the SHR

Social, Ethics and Strategy Committee 
(SESCo)
The SESCo’s purpose is to assist the Board in governing 
the social, ethical and strategic management of the SHR 
to ensure:

• The SHR develops and implements policies, 
procedures and practices and reports on its social 
responsibility as envisaged in King IV

• The SHR is and is seen to be an ethical organisation 
and ethical values are paramount in the SHR’s 
existence, practices and activities 

• The SHR’s strategy ensures its sustainability 



S H R I NTEG RATE D R E PORT 2022

Members and attendance 
Standing members:
Paul Colditz (Chairperson)

Martin Bahnemann

Ghita Erling

William Harmse 

Amos Mdluli

Special SESCo:
Vikeshni Vandayar (Chairperson)

Martin Bahnemann 

William Harmse  

Derek Venter (Chair: Independent Electoral 
Coordinators) 

John Botha (Independent Electoral Coordinator)

Gert Potgieter (Independent Electoral Coordinator)

Focus areas 
The 2021/22 focus areas were divided into two 
components:

1. A focus on strategy and strategy implementation by 
the standing members

2. A special SESCo, structured to focus on Board 
electoral processes

Focus areas for the 2022/23 financial year 
• Strategy

• Embedding an ethical values-driven culture

• Social responsibility

Information Technology and Communications 
Committee (ITCo)
The ITCo’s purpose is to assist the Board in governing 
the IT management of the SHR to ensure:

• Existing IT systems are safe, sustainable and 
compliant (i.e. secure, auditable and recoverable)

• Architectural principles are defined and processes 
are implemented to ensure adherence to 
the principles. These architectural principles 
should support meaningful reporting, a reduced 
administration burden for SHR members and one-
click donations for potential donors 

• IT policies are implemented and maintained and 
that necessary declarations are obtained from those 
working with SHR information and/or technology 

• A software development life cycle proportionate to 
the SHR is defined and implemented

• Budgeting and funding of the SHR’s IT requirements 
are adequately prepared and motivated

Members and attendance 

Dave Webster (Chairperson) 3/3

Deon van Aarde 3/3

Joe Torlage 3/3

Marcus Portmann 2/3

Focus areas 
• IT governance framework

• Project to consolidate and replace aging member 
facing IT systems

Focus areas for the 2022/23 financial year 
• Implementation of the IT Governance framework

• Ensuring the project to replace the member-facing  
IT systems is successfully implemented and rolled out

• Finding appropriate IT skills to support Exco

Chairpersons’ Committee
The Chairpersons’ Committee promotes alignment and 
information sharing between its members and the  
Board, SHR members and the Exco. The committee 
advises the Board on governance and strategic matters 
and the Exco on operational matters impacting members. 
The committee comprises each RMC’s Chairperson and 
National Project Chairpersons. Board members and the 
leader of Exco are non-voting members.  
The Chairperson’s Committee addresses its initiatives 
through relevant sub-committees which comprise 
members of the Chairpersons’ Committee.

For the past year the office holders were as follows:

Chairperson: Simon Ridge (Chair – West Rand 
Region)

Vice-Chairperson: Louis Lemmer (Chair – Magalies 
Region)

Scribe: Gert Potgieter (member – Pretoria Region)

Head of Finance sub-committee: Derek Venter 
(Chair – Limpopo Region)

Head of Policies and Procedures sub-committee: 
Willem Olivier (Chair – Mountain Zebra Region)

Head of Operations sub-committee: Louis Lemmer 
(Chair – Magalies Region)

Focus areas 

• Strategic objectives identified in the open strategy 
session

• A code of conduct for regional and national elections

• Budgeting procedures

• Executive Centre funding model

• Minor amendments to policies to address omissions

• New Marketing and Public Relations Policy

Focus areas for the 2022/23 financial year 

• Differentiation between policies and standard 
operating procedures

• Completion of 2021/22 focus areas 
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Governance (continued)

John van Dyk (62)

• Operations Manager: North
• AEP, SBL Unisa

Phillip Strauss (71)

• General Manager: Legal
• B.Juris LLB

Hansie Bothma (65)

• General Manager: Finance
• Certificate in Accounting
• Pastel Certified Trainer

Jimmy Telle (56)

• Chief Executive
• Professional Accountant and 

Tax Practitioner
• Scuba Instructor Trainer and 

First Aid Instructor
• Nature Site Guide

Jan Potgieter (58)

• General Manager: Information 
Technology

• BCom (Computer Science)

Keith McNair (68)

• Operations Manager: South
• BCom

Rita Barnes (60)

• General Manager: 
Administration

• NQF6 (Narrative Pastoral 
Therapy)

Petro Schlaphoff (56)

• Administrative Assistant
• Diplomas in Human 

Resources, Disciplinary 
• Hearings, Accounting and 

Office Administration

Des Bothma(72)

• Operations Manager: 
National Projects

• Agri Management and 
Planning

Peter Brooks (76)

• General Manager: Marketing 
and Public Relations

• Damelin Business 
Management

• Wits Business School short 
course MBA

Executive Committee (Exco)
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Conservation Services
Chairperson: John Turner

Contact: 
082 457 3577/ johnturn@iafrica.com

Member activities

The Conservation Services National Project is primarily 
focused on supporting field rangers and counter poaching 
efforts, the Air Wing, and Veterinary Wildlife Services in 
the Kruger National Park (KNP). It also supports other 
national parks, providing equipment and support to 
rangers where requested.

Fundraising activity
The last year has been difficult due to COVID-19 and associated 
regulations. Fundraising events were severely curtailed, and 
we had to cancel nine Mokhohlolo camps, a Sunset Serenade 
event and a Golf Day. Consequently, income from projects was 
severely impacted as our fundraising efforts yielded less than 
R200 000.

The longstanding overseas and local supporters continued 
to support our cause with donations (including the Australian 
Rhino Project, the Royal Zoological Society of South Australia 
and Ambleside Distillery Australia) and an amount in excess of 
R0,5 million was received.

Supporting our rangers
It is often asked ‘where does the money go’ and ‘how do 
functions like the Sunset Serenade and Mokhohlolo camps 
assist in the fight against anti-poaching’? 

In November 2021, members of this National Project handed 
over essential equipment to the Ranger Services in the 
SANParks hanger at Phalaborwa Airport. The equipment 
donated will be used primarily in the four KNP Ranger Regions 
and by the KNP Special Rangers who are at the frontline in the 
fight against poaching. 

To ensure all donations are relevant and appropriate to the 
task, Head Ranger Cathy Dreyer submitted a priority wishlist 
detailing SANParks’ requirements. With Regional, Section and 
Field Rangers, she received the equipment in person during the 
official hand over. Included in this donation, worth an impressive 
R1,9 million, were 151 tents and camouflage nets, 296 sleeping 
bags and 156 global positioning systems (GPSs), to mention 
just a few of the items. 

We were able to assist several other entities, 
including:

• Support to SANParks joint operations centre 
for environmental crime investigations

 The KNP joint operation centre is a 
multidisciplinary, multisectoral approach to fight 
environmental crime. It involves collaboration 
between the South African Police Services 
(SAPS), the South African National Defense 
Force, the intelligence community, SANParks, 
border and customs officials, Environmental 
Management Inspectors, and the National 
Prosecuting Authority. The implementation of 
the joint operation centre has enabled faster 
reaction time and more proactive operations by 
anti-poaching teams in the KNP.

• Conservation Services also assisted with more 
than R0,5 million for legal fees associated 
with the legal case management of poaching 
incidents for the KNP and other parks.

• The Environmental Crime Investigations 
departments in the KNP and Cape Town 
received equipment.

• Game Capture units and colleagues at the 
Golden Gate Highlands National Park received 
requested kit. 

• Equipment was donated to Golden Gate 
Highlands National Park and various other 
national parks in partnership with the West 
Rand Region.

• A STIHL chain saw (generously donated by 
STIHL and GP Lawnmowers, Krugersdorp) 
was handed over to Veterinary Wildlife 
Services, Game Capture division, together with 
a STIHL high water pressure washer.

• Financing the reclamation of large donga near 
Crocodile Bridge Camp and made a hefty 
contribution towards firearm maintenance in the 
KNP.

Every item donated improves the work environment 
of our rangers and specialised services, making it 
easier for them to focus on combatting poaching. 

The Conservation Services National Project would 
like to thank all guests, sponsors and colleagues 
for the continued support of fundraising efforts. 
Our thanks also to Clive Ridley of Imperial Logistics 
who kindly arranged for storage of equipment and 
delivery to Phalaborwa in two 8 ton trucks.

National Projects



KNP Ranger Services would like to express their sincere 
gratitude to Peter Clark of Zoos South Australia for the 

generous donation of radio batteries. Two-way radios 
are critical for coordination during law enforcement 
and conservation operations. They enable constant 
communication between field rangers, air support,  

K9 units, and the operations centre. The need for radio 
communication is a given in terrain such as the KNP  

which extends over 2 million hectares, where vast  
areas have very poor or no cellular phone reception. 

Field rangers showing off the robust kit supplied by Conservation Services National Project.

Reclamation of a large donga near Crocodile Bridge Camp.
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Member activities (continued)

NDX (Nut & Dried Fruit Exchange) a subsidiary of Golden Macadamias, generously donated R39 000. Conservation Services arranged 
for equipment to this value to be handed over to Frik Rossouw of Environmental Crime Investigations.
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Bush camps 
Chairperson: Frank Louw

Contact:  
repsly@honoraryrangers.org

The National Bush Camps were again affected by 
COVID-19. Notwithstanding that, National Bush Camps 
remains one of the biggest income earners and contribute 
many SHR manhours.

While Sand River Bush Camp, situated in the KNP, 
remains one of the most sought-after camps, all other 
bush camps continue to grow. Loffiesdraai, situated in 
the northern Kgalagadi National Park, is booked out for 
the next two years. Morukure, situated in nearby Marakele 
National Park, is the youngest of the camps, continues 

to gain serious traction and goes from strength 
to strength. Nyahri Rustic Bush Camp remains a 
unique camping and walking experience in the KNP 
and the backbone of rustic camping experience.

One of the most exciting projects on the horizon 
is the possibility of an additional SHR walking 
camp in the KNP. Discussions with SANParks and 
the KNP executive continue, and progress on this 
project will be reported in the next financial year. 
The organisation continues to explore the possibility 
of initiating additional bush camps in other regions. 

The outlook for the Bush Camps National Project 
remains positive and it anticipates a very strong 
2022/23 financial year. The camp sincerely thanks 
its loyal customers and skilled colleagues for their 
support during the year and looks forward to their 
continued assistance in the future.

Handover of wishlist items to members of SANParks staff at Kgalagadi National Park.



Member activities (continued)

The Loffiesdraai maintenance teams had a busy year. Apart from routine maintenance, three major projects were 
undertaken. The previous kitchen was too small and outdated to do justice to our quality meals. This was replaced 
by a large, well-equipped kitchen. It was quite a challenge to modernise the facility without compromising the rustic 
atmosphere. The refurbished unit drew compliments from SANParks, clients and the SHR hosts, making the effort 
worthwhile. Ablutions and SHR accommodations were also upgraded.

Six SANParks and SHR Kalahari Trail Guides were trained by the Loffiesdraai Bush Camp Steering Committee, as 
well as six Loffiesdraai hospitality hosts. The Trails Guide course is a prerequisite for guides to perform their duties on 
a Loffiesdraai Bush Camp. 

The camp was not affected by the devastating veld fires that raged through the Kalahari during spring of 2021. The only 
short-term outcome was fewer predator sightings. It is hoped that good recent rains will re-establish the previous game 
migratory patterns and that the lion, leopard and hyena sightings in the camp will normalise again.
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Loffiesdraai Bush Camp
Contact: 
willie@tshephe.co.za

The camp is situated in the heart of the malaria-free Marakele National Park, in the foothills of the Waterberg Mountains 
just outside Thabazimbi. At approximately 300km from Johannesburg and Pretoria, Marakele is the perfect destination 
for a quick weekend break. 

Marakele supports well over 750 plant species, including rare Waterberg cycads, Euphorbias, Yellowwoods and Camel 
Thorn trees. It is also a sanctuary for a large variety of wildlife, including the Big Five.

The camp is secluded, peaceful, private and unfenced. Campers pitch their tents in a grove of sheltering Tamboti trees, 
the plants that give the camp its name. Morning and evening guided walks are offered in the Big Five area, weather 
permitting. Eco toilets and a shower cubicle offer basic ablution facilities. There is no electricity on site and guests need 
to be self-sufficient through the course of their stay. The rustic facilities allow guests to experience nature in its raw, 
splendid form.

With such a plethora of natural wonders, souls will be refreshed by the landscape that inspired the literary legend, 
Eugene Marais, to write works such as “Soul of the White Ant”. 

Morukure Rustic Bush Camp
Contact: 
jhb.bushcamps@honoraryrangers.org
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From left to right:
Time to marvel at the beautiful landscapes in Marakele. The secluded, peaceful, private and unfenced bush camp. Far from the 
maddening crowd. Interesting aspects of nature are explained to guests. Time to enjoy a break, a snack and a pristine scene. Friendly 
banter around an open-air fire.



Nyarhi Rustic Bush Camp
Contact: 
jenbellshr@gmail.com

 Sincere appreciation and thanks to:

• Patrick Mugwedi (SANParks Ranger) for his 
dedicated protection services

• Joe Nkuna (Section Ranger Mooiplaas) for his 
support and meeting the team

• Rodger and Elinah at Tsendze Camp for 
supporting the SHR and promoting Nyarhi 
Rustic Bush 

Sincere thanks are extended to the following 
sponsors for their generous donations:

• Dave Drewett (Bushveld Region) for wooden 
planks to build the urinals and fix other 
structures 

• Ikondile Civils CC – TLB Hire 

• Bill Smith Plant Hire (Pty) Ltd – Flatbed 
transport of the TLB into and out of the KNP

• Coastal Tool & Hire Phalaborwa for the 
jackhammer and portable toilet

Thank you to all volunteers from Virtual, East Rand, 
Bushveld, Limpopo and Highveld Regions who 
were involved in the project. Efforts ensured that 
all was ready for the camps to continue operations 
in March 2022.
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Financially, this year was a great success for the Nyarhi 
Project, as it sold 48 of 51 camps allocated, COVID-19 
notwithstanding. The project has become well known and 
many guests are repeat clients who love the rustic formula 
and the idea of sleeping in an unfenced area in the KNP.

The running of this camp is not possible without the 
support of the 14 Regions that participate in the project, 
each one having a dedicated committee member who 
promotes and sells their camps. 

The camp has had great support from the field guides, who 
are dedicated members of the corps and some of whom 
kindly donate their fees back to the Regions, increasing 
the pool of money available to support SANParks. Thank 
you for your generous support.

Although there was ongoing maintenance during the year, 
the camp undertook a huge project in February 2022 to 
upgrade ablution facilities. The existing Enviroloos were 
replaced with bigger and better models. Two urinals with 
a separate waste tank were added. This was a massive 
project and would not have been possible without the 
help of Nico Kleyn (Bushveld Region) who stepped in and 
managed the logistics and planning from start to finish.

Doing maintenance in an unfenced section of a Big Five 
reserve, with no running water or electricity, is extremely 
challenging, especially in midsummer. The weather went 
from miserable and raining to a sweltering, humid 38oC. 
Four days were allocated to the project. Long hours, 
perseverance, dedication and teamwork ensured that 
14 colleagues and three staff from Enviroloo managed 
to finish. Unplanned hiccups were resolved with several 
extra trips to Phalaborwa to acquire emergency hardware, 
including additional concrete mix.

The team also fixed the braai area and repaired sections 
of the access road to facilitate access during the wetter 
months. 

Member activities (continued)



From left to right:
Breaking of old concrete. Manufacture of new panels. TLB removing existing tanks. Back-filling of new tanks manually.  
New gents’ facility with a view. Restored site.
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Sand River Bush Camp (SRBC)
Contact: 
debeer@lantic.net

This camp is remote and private, and situated in the 
southern KNP, not far from the Tshokwane Picnic Site. 
A maximum of eight guests are accommodated in 
comfortable safari tents. The camp is fully catered, and 
guests can expect high-quality meals. The hospitality 
services, walks and game drives contribute to an excellent 
product. All participating Regions have a waiting list of 
guests who are eager to visit SRBC.

The daily running and maintenance of the SRBC 
is done by a Management Committee consisting 
of representatives from 13 participating Regions. 
Maintenance work is done continuously. The most 
recent work done was the replacement of a tent that 
was unfortunately destroyed in a fire, the extension 
of the linen room and paving of the area between 
the linen room and the fence.

During the year, 535 guests were hosted by 320 
Rangers, working 15 361 volunteer hours. Seven 
camps had to be cancelled due to COVID-19, but 
the camp nevertheless made more than R1 million 
profit to support SANParks.

New safari tent replacing the one lost to fire.

Revamped linen room.

Member activities (continued)
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Interpretation
This project focuses on the restoration and 
maintenance of historical or cultural importance in 
our national parks. On completion of the process, a 
training programme is implemented to educate SHRs 
to perform duties at the sites and inform interested 
visitors.

The refurbishment of two important sites in the KNP 
was carried out recently. Primarily this was the focus 
and effort of members of the East Rand Region.

Rabelais hut

The Rabelais Hut is situated on the S106 road 
between Orpen and Satara, 9km from Orpen Camp. 
This structure functioned as the Rangers’ post and 
the main entrance gate into the central section of 
the park. It remained in operation between 1932 and 
1954. The Orpen family bought seven farms on the 
western boundary and donated them to the KNP, 
which extended the park significantly. Rabelais was 
one of the original farms in the area, named after a 

French satirist. The Rabelais Hut site is dedicated 
to Eileen and James Orpen.

Nearby there is a small waterhole, which often 
attracts game, especially in the dry winter 
months. 

The site had fallen into woeful disrepair. The 
walls were streaked with bat guano and other 
dirt, windows were broken, and the thatch was 
tattered and no longer waterproof. The fence 
surrounding the site was buckled and bent. The 
existing displays were badly weathered and in a 
poor state. They were replaced with eight new 
modern, museum quality displays that incorporate 
broader and more complete information. 
Refurbishment of the site commenced in 2019, 
and the project  
was finally completed in June 2022, at a cost of 
R120 000 and 600 volunteer hours.

The project was completed in phases: 

• The building was renovated from February 
2020 when the thatch was replaced until April 
2021 when the walls were painted inside and 
out, and the windows and doors restored.

• The perimeter fence was replaced in 
November 2021.

• Research about site history started in 
2019 and the new information boards were 
completed in March 2022. The research 
was carried out as a collaboration between 
members of the SHR and SANParks.

Thanks
Our sincere thanks go to the East Rand Region 
for funding the project, and to all current and 
retired members of SANParks, members of the 
East Rand Region and willing third-party helpers 
who assisted with the project.
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Old site identification board. New site identification board.

Interpretation and Public 
Education and Awareness 
Programme (PEAP)
Chairperson: Tanja Richter

Contact:  
083 316 6313/tanja@honoraryrangers.org

Member activities (continued)

This National Project’s primary objective is to inform 
and educate members of the public about the value of 
historical sites and conservation of our natural resources.



The restored Rabalais Hut.

Interior of the Rabelais Hut with new information boards.
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Interpretation and Public Education and Awareness Programme 
(PEAP) continued

Member activities (continued)

Phabeni interpretation site

The site is situated near the Phabeni Gate and comprises the Albasini ruins, Family Grave sites, interpretation display 
and a museum display.

Restoration of the first three units was completed previously. Finally, the refurbishment of the rondavel museum display 
and return of the artefacts and display items was completed in April 2021.

The existing artefact were cleaned, and the display boards painted and updated to improve the appearance. A scene 
comprising models of typical transport wagons was added.

The restored artefacts were replaced under glass in the museum hut.

Thanks
Thanks to the East Rand Region for funding, and to its members for their assistance and enthusiasm.

Refurbished displays and artefacts moved to the museum hut and placed in the rondavel.

Bricks from the Albasini ruins were added to the display.
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PEAP
Numerous PEAP displays are offered at various venues by 
several Regions countrywide. The objectives are to:

• Educate members of the public about the importance of 
conservation and the protection of natural resources

• Educate members of the public about threats to our 
natural resources

• Promote our national parks

• Advertise the activities and events arranged by the SHR

• Encourage and increase adult and youth membership of 
the SHR

• Fundraising by the sale of branded goods or receipt of 
donations

Displays are typically offered at shopping centres, 
community events and trade shows. COVID-19 restrictions 
caused a few events to be postponed, but many successful 
promotional events were held. A few examples of successful 
exhibitions are given below:

• The Boland Region kicked off on a high note with a 
three-day event in March 2022 at the KykNet Buite 
Expo outside Malmesbury. A record number of 22 295 
visitors to the show ensured a busy event. Items for sale 
included the Tankwa Karoo National Park book, SHR 
branded braai tongs and a successful raffle. Thanks 
to Finmax Financial Services for the sponsorship and 
Steelcraft for sponsoring the raffle prize of a braai grid 
and stand. 

• Bankenveld Region built PEAP displays at the 
Rustenberg motor show and at the Lekwana Wildlife 
Estate, where a three-day “Geesfees” festival is held.

• East Rand Region was at the Toyz 4 Boyz show at the 
Rand Airport, the Hunters; Association event and at the 
Hypermarket in Boksburg.

• Knysna Region put an innovative spin on public 
education. On 5 June, World Environment Day, 
returning whales were celebrated with an information 
stall at Brenton-on-Sea. Children’s activities included 
identification of different shore species and building 
sand animals.

• KwaZulu-Natal Region held two PEAP shows at Golden 
Gate Highlands National Park, the second one being at 
the challenge running race in October. Other displays 
were set up at the Krantzkloof Sports Club in Durban, 
and the DUC-Point Watersport Club and one at a 
shopping mall.

• Pretoria Region held four PEAP displays at Rietvlei 
Nature Reserve and one at a busy shopping centre.

• Tsitsikamma Region held events at the Market Square 
in Plettenberg Bay, and at the reception area of the 
Tsitsikamma Section of the Garden Route National Park, 
assisted by park personnel.

SHR stand at the successful kykNet Expo near 
Malmesbury.

PEAP display at Rietvlei Nature Reserve.

PEAP display at the PicknPay Centre, Boksburg.

PEAP display by the Tsitsikamma Region.
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K9 Project Watchdog 
Chairperson: Moira Shein

Contact: 
082 579 3327 
projectwatchdog@honoraryrangers.org

Member activities (continued)

K9 Project Watchdog contributes immensely to the 
success of the SANParks K9 anti-poaching units, 
ensuring the K9 units operate as efficiently as possible. 
The project supports SANParks:

• In the procurement of dogs 

• Veterinary needs 

• Emergency dog food

• Dog handler training and equipment 

• Equipment for the dogs 

K9 Project Watchdog had an exciting year and achieved the 
short and medium-term goals as set out by the Management 
Committee as follows:

• Successfully implemented changes to its structures 

The Management Committee created a portfolio for a park’s 
coordinator for all Regions who are involved with the 
K9 Project. This has resulted in improved engagement 
between the National Project and Regions. The project 
continuously strives to involve more Regions.

• A formal marketing plan was formulated and was approved 
by the National Communications Committee

• The project will continue to engage with the National 
Communications Committee regarding an increased 
presence of K9 Project Watchdog on social media. 

The K9 merchandise range increased, and the project 
successfully sold neck warmers in the KNP and Table Mountain 
National Park stores.

• A position on the Management Committee for training 
was also established and this resulted in the training 
course content being finalised. A test training course will 
be scheduled to enable the National Skills Development 
Committee to approve the course so that all SHR will be 
adequately trained to look after the dogs while on duty.

• A successful golf day and auction was held at Pretoria 
Country Club, in collaboration with Magalies Region. 
More than R20 000 was raised. The project also had 
the opportunity to engage with stakeholders resulting in 
significantly broadening its fundraising base.

Mokala National Park
• Johannesburg Region is upgrading the kennels 

in Mokala National Park with Diamantveld 
colleagues 

• The food storage facility will be built in the 
coming year with the remaining funds from 
Johannesburg and Diamantveld Regions

• Two dogs will be deployed to Mokala in the 
next few months

Mokala kennel upgrade.

Table Mountain National Park 
As part of the much publicised Sea, Air and 
Mountain (SEAM) team, a K9 unit was launched 
in Table Mountain National Park on 3 December 
2021. With the help of various Regions, six dogs 
were purchased for the unit and six new handlers 
received six weeks of vigorous training. The dogs 
are either Dutch Shepherds or Belgian Malinois. 
One of the dogs will be transferred to the KNP. 

Signal hill kennels were renovated and now include 
exercise runs, isolation kennel, food storage and a 
small clinic.

The dogs are used to combat abalone poaching 
along the coast and ensure visitor safety on the 
mountain.



Together with the SEAM team, there have been numerous successes in the park and hopefully the unit will grow and be even 
more successful.

Outlook
• Upgrading Marakele and Karoo National Park K9 units

• Building a training centre at the K9 centre

• Fulfilling 2022/23 K9 wishlists

• Increase social media presence and thereby increase awareness and donations

• Increasing corporate sponsorships and involvement with the K9 National Project

• Awareness and donation campaign within all the national parks under the SANParks umbrella

Thanks to the following regions for their support:
Diamantveld, East Rand, Johannesburg, Johannesburg South, Lowveld, Magalies, Pretoria, Vaal Triangle, Virtual and Wilderness.

SHR upgrading the Table Mountain unit’s kennels.
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Track and trace. Getting to know you.

Items to recover. Training in the sea.

Alert and ready – in training.
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Member activities (continued)



K9 in training. 

KNP
•This unit remains the flagship K9 unit and is possibly 
the best K9 anti-poaching unit on the continent. 95% of 
all arrests of poachers in the park have K9 involvement 
(stats from SANParks)

•One new tracking dog and six new detection dogs were 
purchased for this park

•Maintenance working weekends saw an increased 
number of regions participating and this assisted in 
getting the K9 unit in the KNP up to standard

•Kruger Gate kennels were upgraded

The data for the GPS harnesses for the dogs was paid 
for by several Regions and the National Project. This is 
an ongoing expense for the National Project.

Upgraded Kruger Gate kennels. Donated dog handler and K9 equipment.

Kennels. Upgraded runs.
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Project Embrace 
Chairperson: Elize Smith

Contact: 
Contact: 082 925 3500 
embrace@honoraryrangers.org

Member activities (continued)

Embrace offers stress and trauma management 
programmes to field rangers. Embrace enhances 
their wellness skills proactively to develop resiliency. 

The Embrace service is facilitated by 37 suitably 
qualified Rangers from 13 Regions. Embrace is 
rendered in 11 parks in six provinces.

The narrative:

• “We do not feel safe in our own communities. The poacher I arrested knows where my family is staying. He is out 
on bail.

• Who do you trust? Who is selling information to the enemy?

• We know we must eat this elephant piece by piece. It feels like I am eating alone.

• I am concerned about what is happening at home. I miss my family.

• My money is not enough. I am looking after fifteen family members.

• We are in trouble. We need you.

• Thank you for bringing us hope.”

Beneficiaries

RSA citizen Race Gender Disabled

Yes No A C I W *U Male Female *U Yes No

1 679 3 12 65 327 6 19 65 1 159 449 74 12 1 670

Total number of SANParks employees reached: 1 682  
*U = Undisclosed or unknown

Beneficiaries by race          Beneficiaries by gender

Female 449

Male 1 159

Unknown 74

Coloured 327

White 19 

Unknown 65

African 1 265

Indian 6 
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Quotes from beneficiaries

“Dear SHR Embrace Team. Thank you once 

again for this wonderful program. Staff 

participants are encouraged to engage and 

benefit tremendously. Your ongoing support in 

this regard is highly appreciated. Hope to see 

you soon. With kind regards”

“If I want to achieve. I need to hope 

and take action. Thanks for Embrace 

and yourselves for taking the time to 

share this truth with us.”

“Dear Embrace Team. What a day it was, what 
a day we had we with you guys! You really 
touched every one of the members that were 
present that day, even the ones that were not 
there they were told countless times about it. 
Today we spoke about that day and the shared 
pictures, there is still smiles coming out of the 
men, thank you so much!”

“As always you took time to chat 

to the gents, and giving each one 

undivided attention, it is these 

moments that one shares which 

makes it special!”

“We cherish your friendship, 
always! Thank you once again 
for taking your time to see us!
 God bless you.”

“I learned to listen to my inner coach and learned to 
celebrate my life and take care of my wellbeing. I have 
learned to tell myself that I am worth it and need to 
embrace myself. Today’s presentation really helped me a 
lot as I really needed it because I woke up this morning 
thinking about all the bad things that are happening in my 
life, and I was getting very emotional during the session 
but I managed to hide it – I am so grateful and going to 
take care of myself more.”



70

Embrace in action

Member activities (continued)



The financial support received from Regions enables Embrace to render the service nationally, made possible by 
partnerships and networks.

Thank you to the following Regions for financial support: 
Johannesburg South, Pretoria, Table Mountain, KZN, Vaal Triangle and Wilderness Regions 

Appreciation

Sincere thanks to the Regions, the Executive Centre and our Board for the support received.

The support from SANParks is tremendous, from head office to every park within which it operates.

Thanks to every Ranger who trusts Embrace with their life journeys.

The dedication and passion of the SHR Embrace Team, often at the cost of huge personal sacrifice, is deeply appreciated. 
This team converts the ordinary into magic. You are precious, thank you.
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Junior Honorary Rangers 
(JHR)
Chairperson: Carmin Mohr

Contact: 
083 662 3551 
chairperson.jhr@honoraryrangers.org

Member activities (continued)

About the JHRs

The groups comprise young adults between 12 and 18 years 
old, linked to their Regions. 

The JHR groups are managed by seniors who have attended 
the Facilitator’s Course. The senior facilitators are screened 
according to the Children’s Act 38 of 2005 and must produce 
a Police Clearance Certificate from SAPS.

A five-phase programme acts as a framework which can be 
adapted to each group’s specific needs and circumstances. 
The annual programme is planned with activities to ensure that 
the members can progress to the next phase. The juniors may 
choose whether they want to complete a phase per year or 
complete a few together.

Once they have completed the final phase, and they are younger 
than 18, they assist facilitators during meetings. This enables 
the more experienced to support less experienced members, 
while strengthening leadership qualities, communication skills, 
creative thinking, and planning. At 18, the members link up 
with the senior groups and meetings. This has already been 
achieved in three Regions. Hopefully this trend of joining the 
senior ranks will continue and increase in the future. 

Furthermore, junior alumni from several Regions have embarked 
on formal tertiary education courses in the natural sciences, 
veterinary science and nature guiding and game ranging.

The juniors are our successors

2021 showed a slight relaxation of the COVID-19 
restrictions, and junior groups could meet in person 
again. Some groups remained in limbo while others 
enjoyed many outings and camps.

The Pretoria JHRs

A visit to the Mabula Ground Hornbill Project 
proved to be super exciting, especially when a male 
Southern Ground Hornbill caught a snake. The 
bird subsequently flew over the game drive vehicle, 
with the snake in its bill, to land nearby. They were 
able to watch the hornbill devour its hard fought-for 
meal.

They enjoyed a presentation by Prof Ray Jansen 
on pangolins. There was a significant increase in 
pangolin rescues due to the cooperation between 
the Department of Environmental Affairs, SAPS, 
National Trade Professional Association (NTPA), 
the Hawks and SANParks.

Their members are encouraged to listen to BirdLife 
South Africa’s Conservation Conversations.

East Rand JHRs visited the Klipriviersberg Nature 
Reserve in May 2021. The walk took them over 
rocky outcrops, valleys and along a river, while 
looking for snares. This was a very informative 
walk as the children found a termite mound with a 
piece loosely attached. All were amazed when they 
picked it up and saw some soldier termites staring 
back at them! 

Although no snares where found, a deflated air 
mattress was spotted, lying against the boundary 
fence. The guide suggested that possibly a poacher 
used it to overnight in the reserve. This was an 
alarming thought for the youngsters (evidence of 
a possible poacher!). The guide removed the item.
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Pre-walk briefing. Termite soldiers inside a termite mound. An abandoned air-mattress.



The Johannesburg JHRs 
participated in a 24-hour camp at 
the Lion & Cheetah Sanctuary in 
the Dinokeng Game Reserve. 

Here they learnt how to pitch tents 
and arrange comfortable beds.

Meals are an important part of 
camping, and they learnt to light 
fires and cook over them.

Outdoor games and quizzes were 
introduced.

The children were exposed to a 
walk in the game reserve among 
the herbivores. A highlight was the 
sighting of a golden hartebees!

A game drive into the predator 
camp was very exciting. 

S H R I NTEG RATE D R E PORT 2022

Two Vaal Triangle JHR groups joined our corps: Vaal Jeppe and Vaal Sasolburg. 

We welcome them and wish them well. May they grow from strength to strength.
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Sports events 
Chairperson: Werner Eksteen

Contact:  
082 825 5546 
werrie.eksteen@gmail.com

Powerade Marakele Marathon

The Powerade Marakele Marathon, now in its 13th year, is the premier sporting and tourism event 
in the Thabazimbi area and attracts nearly 2 000 runners annually. It consists of three races: 
marathon, half marathon and 10km. There is also a family fun run for the surrounding communities. 

As an official Comrades Marathon and Two Oceans qualifying event, it is one of the key races in 
the Limpopo Province and attracts runners from across the country with some regular international 
runners attending each year. It is one of very few marathons that take place in a Big Five game 
reserve and is a true bucket-list event for runners of all ages and ability.

The primary purpose of the marathon is to support the Thabazimbi community, create publicity for the Marakele National 
Park and local tourism efforts, and to raise funds for the SHR conservation projects in the park.

The 2022 marathon took place on 5 March and was a great success despite onerous COVID-19 restrictions and late 
approval which meant that we only got to market six weeks before the event. A huge thunderstorm at 04:00 on the 
morning of the event persuaded many Thabazimbi residents to stay at home.

We had 882 entries, approximately half of our capacity and a pleasing result.

We were able to show a small profit after accounting for extraordinary costs related to mandatory COVID-19 protocols.

Planning for the 2023 Powerade Marakele Marathon is already underway and we are proceeding on the basis that there 
will be no COVID-19 restrictions in the new year. 

Sincere thanks to all assisting colleagues, and our kind sponsors.

Tour de Addo

The Honorary Rangers of the Addo region, together with Red Cherry Events, hosted this event towards the end of March 
2021 at a typical bush camp within Addo. 

The event takes place over five days and four nights. After completing registration formalities, participants are transferred 
to a typical bush camp and settled into two-bed luxury dome tents. Delicious meals are served three times a day. 
Different mountain biking routes are offered each morning, and other activities in the afternoon. 

The ride ended at the five-star Kuzuko Lodge on the second day, where the riders enjoyed a lovely lunch. The highlight of 
that day was the close-up sighting of the lions, Sylvester (famous for his escape art in the Karoo), Fielies, his half-brother, 
and two females. After supper, the riders were joined by Gerhard de Lange, the Conservation Manager at Kuzuko, who 
shared survival stories of all 

For more information about future events: https://tourdeaddo.com/
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Member activities (continued)

Golden Gate Highlands National Park – three-day endurance event

The Region held the annual Three-day Trail Run in Golden Gate Highlands National Park October 2021 in collaboration 
with Wildlands and SANParks. Numbers this year were significantly better than previous years due to the gradual lifting 
of the strict COVID-19 regulations. A 10km fun run, called the Dino run was introduced on the second day, and proved 
to be very popular with people wanting to do a shorter distance in the mountains. Colleagues from the Free State 
Region helped the KwaZulu-Natal Region successfully run the event. Runners were excited to be able to participate in 
this prestigious event.

Beautiful smiles from deserving prize winners.
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Mokala Mountain Bike (MTB) Classic

Mokala MTB Classic is Diamantveld Region’s major annual fundraising event, now in its fifth successful year. One of the 
aims of the event is to allow keen bikers to experience the raw beauty of Mokala National Park without being constrained 
inside a vehicle. Another objective is to educate the MBT public, their families and friends about the unique features of 
the park.

Safety of the riders is a major concern, and for Mokala’s staff it is a case of all hands on deck. All field rangers and 
administrative staff were on hand to ensure the 78 cyclists and their families were looked after. The participants were 
assured of their personal safety out on the rides, comfortable accommodation and delicious meals. 

The organisers strive to ensure that it is a fun family event. Participation is for anybody who loves the sport and for 
professional riders. This is a special event because riders can say they were able to ride through the park on their 
bicycles between the wild animals.

Our special thanks go to our colleagues, and Free State and Bankenveld Regions, who worked so hard to make the 
event a success. 

Sincere thanks also to our kind sponsors:
Alpha Beta Cyclist; Andre Oberholzer; Beefmaster; Blasting & Excavating; Cat Security; Diamond Packaging; Discovery 
– Amanda Deyzel; Duncan & Rothman; Engelsman Magabane Inc; ER24; Food Lovers Market; Franic Signs; Hein & 
Frances; JB van der Westhuizen; Kelrn; Label Lab; Malu Pork; Mediclinic Gariep; Monument Spar; Oasis; Outdoors; 
Puma; SANBS; Spur; Stewarts & Lloyds; Vasvat Pro venison; Vermeulens; Wimpy and private donations.

Ready, steady, go. Refreshment time.

Sylvester MTB race and trail run

The Sylvester MTB race was born to continue the legacy of the 
famous runaway lion who escaped twice from the Karoo National 
Park. Sylvester, also known as Spook, captured the hearts and minds 
of South Africans and even had a global following. The Karoo Region 
offers mountain bikers and trail runners the chance to experience some 
of the terrain the search parties had to endure. 

This year was the fourth year the event took place and the third year 
that it was presented as a three-day event. Participants could choose 
between a long and short three-day race which included a prologue 
(time trial). Seven different distances were offered, making this event 
accessible to professional riders and novices, and to every age group. 
Guests could also stay at the race village at Grantham in the Karoo 
National Park, the base of the whole event. 

Sincere thanks to our helpers, and OK Foods Beaufort West was again 
the main sponsor of the event.
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Skills development 
Chairperson: Geoff Lautenbach

Contact: 
geoffl@uj.ac.za

Member activities (continued)

Skills Development National Project addresses the 
relevant training needs of SHR members, as well 
as applicant SHR members, through a structured 
process of skills development (training), as 
prescribed in the SHR Constitution.

Skills Development National Project addresses the relevant 
training needs of SHR members, as well as applicant SHR 
members, through a structured process of skills development 
(training), as prescribed in the SHR Constitution.

Through skills development, the project endeavours to improve 
the quality of services rendered to SANParks, as well as the 
contributions made to nature conservation, by an educated 
and well-informed corps of SHR members. Simultaneously 
a contribution is made to national training, the promotion 
of enhanced conservation skills and knowledge, and the 
subsequent protection of our natural resources and cultural 
heritage. The project also ensures that performing SHR-related 
conservation duties in SANParks is an enriching, pleasurable 
and satisfying experience for all SHR members who have used 
the training.

During 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022, a centralised email to 
deal with all course queries and administration was introduced. 
The production of a central calendar for all courses has proven 
to be an excellent initiative widely accepted and effectively used 
by regional training coordinators, instructors and SHRs. The 
email courses@honoraryrangers.org dealt with 590 incoming 

emails during this period, and sent out 655 emails. 
Subject matter included the attendance registers, 
results of courses and applications to present 
courses. All available courses were collated, 
and a single training calendar is distributed to all 
members at regular, usually monthly, intervals. The 
training calendar includes full information on the 
course and where to apply. 

During the year, 91 courses were offered. A brief 
breakdown shows that:

• 32 of the courses were the basic SANParks and 
the Honorary Ranger course

• 11 introduction to the KNP courses

• 35 introduction to other national parks courses

• 13 other courses including Kruger Park 
Hospitality and, for the first time, Site 
Interpretation Officer courses

In total, 75 courses were presented in person and 
17 courses were presented virtually. Altogether 1 
310 course passes were recorded, being almost 
one course passed for every second member.

In addition, the calendar accommodates other 
courses offered in the KNP, which is further to the 
benefit of all members.

The management and administration structure 
of the Skills Development National Project was 
restructured and expanded. Nine portfolios 
have been created, ably assisted by 13 senior 
SHR colleagues. A concerted effort is under 
way to update and reorder internal management 
processes. 

Sincere thanks to all the colleagues who gladly 
assist.
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Other projects
Fundraising and marketing
Dr J Franken – franken@sun.ac.za

Fundraising provides the key mechanism by which valuable contributions are made to SANParks. A wide variety of 
fundraising events have been used with great success over the years, including golf days, birding weekends, sporting 
events, musical concerts and raffles. Fundraising is managed as a National Project. All funds raised accrue to the 
Region or National Project running the event, while an administration levy is retained by the Executive Centre.

First National Society lottery 
The first nationally coordinated society lottery was successfully run by the SHR this year. It ran from 2 December 2021 
to 26 March 2022 to raise funds for the national K9 Watchdog Project and the Environmental Crime Investigation (ECI) 
unit at Table Mountain National Park. Tickets were sold exclusively through Webtickets and by word of mouth through 
members. As is common practice, SHR members and their close family members were excluded from the lottery.

A total of 555 tickets were sold, raising R55 500 in tickets sales. SANParks donated prizes of seven, five and three 
nights’ accommodation for two adults for the first, second and third prizes respectively. Winners were published on the 
SHR website and social media platforms.

The net profit distributed to the K9 Watchdog Project and the ECI unit at Table Mountain National Park in the proportion 
of 70:30. The SHR hopes to expand this project to a maximum of 5 000 tickets. Additional marketing and sales avenues 
will be sought. 

Going forward

A second society lottery is being considered by the Johannesburg Region with the Conservation Services National 
Project. The Waterberg Region is preparing an application to the National Lottery Commission for funds to undertake a 
heritage project in the Mapungubwe National Park.

A fundraising training course for members has been developed, and a database marketing system is being developed.

Marketing and public relations
Contact: Peter Brooks Peterkb@honoraryrangers.org

Member activities (continued)
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SHR@Home Webinar Series 
Born during lockdown, they cover a wide range of biodiversity and conservation topics, and maintain meaningful 
engagement with key stakeholder groups.

Webinars are live streamed to our Facebook page (SANParksHonoraryRangers/) and video-streamed to our YouTube 
channel (SHR at Home – SANParks Honorary Rangers). 

A few of our most popular webinars included: 

• Gerhard de Lange (Kuzuko Lodge): “The story of ‘Spook’ (AKA Sylvester) and his pride”

• Nicci Wright (Johannesburg Wildlife Veterinary Hospital, African Pangolin working Group and Humane Society 
International – Africa): “Wildlife Rehabilitation, some unusual stories – European Honey Buzzard and African Clawless 
Otter”

• Joep Stevens: “Reflections on tourism for conservation: 1990 to 2021”

• Dr Tony Rebello (SANBI): “Fires and fynbos: The complexities and conundrums”

Several webinars were hosted in partnership with SANParks, including:

• Dr Alison Kock (SANParks Marine Biologist, The Cape Research Centre): “Managing South Africa’s Marine Protected 
Areas”

• Richard Sowry (Section Ranger in the Kruger National Park): “Lion conservation: the facts that tell the story and hold 
the solutions”

• Navashni Govender (Senior Manager for Conservation in the Kruger National Park): “Fire: A Necessary Evil for KNP 
Management”

Consequently, visits on our website and social media platforms increased. This, in turn, led to improved recognition of 
the SHR brand. The increase in viewership of our YouTube channel can largely be attributed to the popularity of lion and 
elephant videos. 

Advertising
During 2021/2022 new marketing avenues were sought, a few of which are described below: 

• Corporate posters were designed for display at park entrance gates 

• New banners were developed to increase brand awareness at educational displays and events.

• World Ranger Day 2021 was celebrated with a virtual webinar. Rangers across the country were interviewed, 
providing a glimpse into the importance of their tasks and challenges 

• An awareness campaign was launched for Embrace National Project

• Our Google Ads campaign commenced in July 2020. Between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, 12 300 clicks 
were recorded with a pronounced increasing trend evident between December 2021 and March 2022 
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Key social media and website metrics for 2020/2021 and 2021/2022.
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Member activities (continued)

The Tankwa Karoo National Park has the distinction 
of being one of the newest national parks and one of 
the most inaccessible. It is only reached after nearly 
100km of bone-jarring dirt road.

A decade ago, there was a need to ensure that the 
cultural landscape and history of the park needed to 
be captured and made accessible to visitors. The idea 
of the “@Heart and Soul” was born. 

Three members, namely Beverley Moll, Michiel Moll 
and Rina Steyn spent the next 10 years researching, 
writing and arranging the publication of this 160-page 
guide. It covers its history and some of the incidents 
and some of the interesting aspects of life in the area.

As the authors say:

Over the years we spent countless hours on the book. As we delved deeper into the region, its cultural history, and natural 
resources, the proposed content expanded significantly. The more information we gleaned, the more we appreciated 
the rich tapestry of life that is portrayed in the buildings, and other relics around the park. We ended up with over 5 777 
files on the Tankwa!

Information was obtained from interviews, archival sources, 
written records and personal visits to the park, the area 
and people who lived there. The results were written and 
rewritten, and it went through seven sets of proofs. Finally, 
the book was ready to be published and the Boland Region 
took this responsibility. Since the launch in September 
2021, sales have been steady and great interest has been 
shown by members of the public. This was promoted on 
social media sites such as Tankwa Karoo Toerisme, and 
even in printed media where Weg and Go ran a whole 
page interview with the authors. This book has proved 
to be a great contribution by the SHR, and its authors to 
Tankwa Karoo National Park and SANParks.

The book sells for R300 excluding postage and can be 
ordered from tankwabook@honoraryrangers.org

“The Heart and Soul of the Tankwa Karoo National Park”

For those of you who are interested 

and love the #Tankwa #Karoo, this 

book is a “must have”.

Tankwa Padstal Aug 25 2021
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West Coast Region’s Pelican Watch  
Season November 2021 to January 2022

The Tankwa Karoo National Park has the 
distinction of being one of the newest national 
parks and one of the most inaccessible. It is only 
reached after nearly 100km of bone-jarring dirt 
road. 

Pelican Watch supports the SANParks on Malgas 
and Jutten islands of the West Coast National 
Park National Park. These islands are located on 
either side of the Saldanha Bay entrance; Jutten 
to the south and Malgas to the north.

Pelican Watch project protects the nestlings and 
juveniles of Cape cormorants (Jutten) and Cape 
gannets (Malgas). 

The 17th season of the Pelican Watch was a triumph, notwithstanding major issues including the COVID-19 pandemic, 
avian flu, transport difficulties. Members of the West Coast Region are assisted by colleagues from all over the country. 
This year, 3 710 hours were volunteered from 14 Regions , excluding travel time.

Every Monday, SANParks marine staff would deliver the new team to each of the islands on a small boat. The team had 
to be self-sufficient for a week of rough camping. A donation for this was arranged by the SHR.

This year, tragedy struck, when an outbreak of avian flu on the West Coast resulted in the deaths of over 1 200 
cormorants on Jutten Island. Authorities set up guidelines and protocols to allow the programme to continue. During the 
first three weeks, the teams had the difficult task of burning all the carcasses. This was to encourage well cormorants 
to return, which thankfully happened. Consequently, the project on Jutten island was extended by two weeks to allow 
the chicks to fledge.

The Cape Fur Seal population on the Malgas Island was close to starving due to a decrease in the pelagic fish availability. 
The gannet colony was the easiest source of food for them. Shifts of 24 hours had to be set up as the seals often came 
in the night.

While on duty, teams record valuable daily data to be used later for colony management decisions. This includes 
the numbers of bird carcasses collected, egg/chick predation, seal predation, bird rings on birds, pelican predation, 

bird species on the island as well as weather and 
sea conditions. Sick birds are collected by the staff 
members of the West Coast National Park and sent 
away for testing. Suspicious boats coming too close to 
the Marine Protected Area are reported to the relevant 
authorities to be dealt with by SANParks. 

This programme fills a gap that the West Coast 
National Park is unable to fill due to both manpower 
and budget constraints. The support of donors and the 
SHR Regions is why this is a flagship for the West 
Coast Region, but for the SHR as a whole. It also 
offers an experience that leaves its mark on all who 
have been part of it. The success of the 2021/2022 
season, despite its unique challenges, is a fitting 
testament to our organisation.

Comment from member: I had the 

pleasure of doing our bit a couple of 

years ago, marvellous experience and 

would recommend others to offer their 

time for a worthy cause. BH
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West Coast Region Pelican Watch (continued)
A note about Cape Gannets: When looking at a Cape Gannet colony teeming with birds, one would be forgiven 
thinking that the population of this species is secure and of no concern. Yet, nothing can be further from the truth. 
The International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) lists this species as endangered, and the regional 
classification as vulnerable. The global population has halved since the 1950s. What makes the population vulnerable 
is that they only breed in a few locations. If a natural disaster should hit one of the islands, then a large proportion of the 
population would be lost all at once. This makes the work of the Pelican Watch Project vitally important.

The Cape Gannet is BirdLife South Africa’s Bird of the Year for 2022.
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Wilderness Region’s off-road excursion

Guests enjoying magnificent views.

This initiative started in 2016, with the main objective of assisting the Garden Route National Park with the maintenance 
of the park facilities. Three off-road routes were identified in collaboration with park authorities. These routes are off-
limits to the public. Participants enjoy a limited, exclusive experience in SANParks uncharted nature areas. 

Guests may expect to drive through magnificent indigenous forest, dense fern patches and open fynbos areas. 

A maximum of 10 vehicles are permitted to limit negative impact on the terrain. Several rest breaks and photo opportunities 
are on offer. The itinerary includes a seven-hour drive on Saturdays and a three- hour drive on a Sunday, weather 
permitting. Should unforeseen extreme weather conditions arise, the trip will be postponed to a mutually suitable date.

For more information, contact Barend Meintjes, barendcm@gmail.com.



Member activities (continued)

Water monitoring system for Golden Gate Highlands National Park
The KwaZulu-Natal Region, in collaboration with Ground Truth Water (a wetlands and environmental engineering 
consulting company) arranged a miniSASS (Stream Assessment Scoring System) to be donated to Golden Gate 
Highlands National Park.

A miniSASS comprises various simple tools to be used by anyone to monitor the health of a stream or river. A water 
sample is collected and the macroinvertebrates (small insect-like animals) are identified. Depending on which groups 
are found, one has a measure of the general river health and water quality in that river.

On 26 February 2022, the Region arranged for Ayanda Lepheana to visit the park and present a refresher course to the 
management and staff of the Wilgenhof Environmental Education Centre. They now know how to offer and present mini 
stream assessments methods to school groups who visit the Education Centre as part of their curriculum. 

Thanks to Ayanda Lepheana from Ground Truth Water for the donation to the Environmental Education Centre 

Left: Ayanda Lepheana and Nelly Mofokeng with SANParks and SHR members.
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Invasive species eradication 
Invasive Alien Plants in the Kruger National Park
Andre Bestbier abestbier4354@gmail.com

The KNP’s biodiversity is threatened greatly by invasive alien plants. These include the Prickly Pear (Opuntia spp), 
Lantana (Lantana camara), Chromolaena (Chromolaena odorata), Queen of the Night cactus (Cereus jamacaru), Senna, 
Mauritius thorn (Caesalpinia decapetala), Slender potato creeper (Solanum seaforthianum), to mention just a few.

Alien plants destroy natural habitats as they deprive soils of nutrition, promote erosion, and impact water resources at 
large, affecting our animal life. The seeds of these invasive plants are often distributed by wind and animals, and there 
are no ‘natural’ insect pests to control the villains. In addition, flooding along riverbanks leaves riparian areas denuded 
of vegetation and deposits the seeds of alien plants in its wake. 

Removing invasive alien plant is an extremely demanding 
and physical duty. The SANParks Honorary Rangers have 
been operating within the Kruger National Park and achieved 
noticeable success. Various species-appropriate, mechanical 
methods are employed, as well as specific herbicides. The 
methods and agents are verified by SANParks technical staff 
before being employed in the field.

Every year an eradication program, also known as ‘hacks’, 
is planned in consultation with SANParks. The primary 
targets are Lantana, Chromolaena, Queen of the Night, and 
Prickly Pear. Every month, weather permitting, work parties 
target specific areas. The impact of invasive alien plants is a 
serious concern and requires greater attention through public 
education and action.

A beautiful, global pest. Flowers of 
Lantana camara produce numerous 
seeds which ripen to purple drupes 

enjoyed by birds. The seeds are 
subsequently dispersed in bird 

droppings.

Removal of alien Pinus trees from Table Mountain National Park.
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Member activities (continued)

Invasive species eradication (continued)
Table Mountain Region
SANParks approached SHRs to compile data on alien hack groups working in and around Table Mountain National Park 
and 28 groups responded. The SHRs are mapping the areas, compiling a database of all major alien species, and the 
clearing methods effective for each. Where clearing permits are required, these are facilitated by SANParks. In addition, 
a course on the clearing of alien vegetation is in the planning stage. Monthly updates are forwarded to SANParks.



On the water’s edge
The Garden Route National Park is highly fragmented into separate 
sections bordering on residential and agricultural areas. Our members 
are often the eyes and ears of SANParks staff within these fragments. 
Water patrols are conducted frequently and focus on fishing licences, 
removing illegal crab and fish trap nets, checking bag limits, and 
monitoring cast net activities.

The photographs on the right show a confiscated canoe with a 35m 
net removed from the Duiwe River and the contents of several bags 
confiscated from poachers on the Brown-hooded Kingfisher Trail.

A Facebook post “Thank you to 

our volunteer SANParks Honorary 

Rangers. Our canoe, reported 

missing, has been returned, intact. 

We are so grateful. How awesome 

is that?”
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Knysna Region educational garden
Sabine Schukai Knysna.chair@honoraryrangers.com

Members of the Knysna Region created a garden next to the office on Thesen Island. Benches, plant labels and a pathway 
were included. Printed sea horses were painted on the road to lead visitors to a seahorse tank and a merchandise stall. 
The merchandise stall is stocked with neck warmers, caps with sea horse embroidery, shopping bags, fridge magnets 
and keyrings – a very worthwhile income.

Some of the money raised was used to equip local Rangers with items like tactical vests, torches, backpacks and more. 
An amount was earmarked to send two Rangers to the Wildlife Academy in Hoedspruit. 

Member activities (continued)

Educational garden near SHR offices. Plaque in educational garden.

This is the way to the sea horse display.



West Rand Region birding weekends
Norma Gardiner westrandbirders@gmail.com

The 2022 KNP birding events were held at 18 camps from 20 January to 13 March. More than 35 000 birding records 
were logged onto Birdlasser, adding to the citizen science project of keen twitchers. Up to 300 species was recorded 
in the Punda Maria and Pafuri area of northern KNP.

Several wonderful and unusual sightings were recorded, including a Racket-tailed Roller in the Pafuri area, and a 
Western Osprey in the far south near Crocodile Bridge. 
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Guest comments 

Just a quick thank you for an awesome time and 

very well-run weekend to boot. I have already 

loaded the Sasol App on my phone – a most 

pleasant addition to my birding tools (happened 

without a glitch). Please notify us once the 

bookings are open for next year. 

Many thanks. SH.

This year, staff and guests participated in the 
BirdLife South Africa’s European Roller census 
by counting these non-breeding migrants. The 
location of each sighting was recorded as the 
distance from the closest landmark. 

Annually, many guests return either to the same 
or a different camp. Camp hosts are challenged 
to creatively strive to enhance and improve their 
event. The planning and excitement continue as 
we work towards the 25th anniversary of these 
birding events in 2023.



Snippets of member activities
KwaZulu-Natal working weekends
Alex Robertson a.robertson@mweb.co.za

The Region held several working weekends in Golden Gate 
Highlands National Park. Various tasks were undertaken, 
from collecting and painting rocks to demarcate the 
Glen Reenen Camp site, erection of baboon proof bins, 
surveying the new camp site at Glen Reenen Camp, 
maintenance of various grave sites, maintenance and 
repairs at Glen Reenen Chalets as well as at Wilgenhof 
Education Centre to name just a few.

Member activities (continued)

GGHNP working weekends.
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Snippets of member activities (continued)
Electronic versions of CUSTOS magazines
Riaan Potgieter criaanpotgieter@gmail.com

“Planks of Thanks” in the Lower Tokai Nature Reserve

Custos, the SANParks wildlife magazine published from 1971 until 1998 has now been captured on a USB. This valuable collection will 
provide hours of interesting reading.

The USB sells for R300 each.

A small team from the Table Mountain Region refurbished the 
wooden boardwalk in the popular fynbos reserve on the slopes of 
the Constantiaberg Mountain. 

A very successful fundraising campaign dubbed the ‘Planks of 
Thanks’ allowed users to donate a plank in aid of restoring the 
feature. This walkway is much loved by cyclists, strollers, dog 
walkers and people commuting to work.
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Snippets of member activities (continued)
Table Mountain visitor safety patrols

Member activities (continued)

On weekends in any weather, SHRs put on their hiking boots or 
cycling gear to conduct visitor safety patrols. Vehicle patrols are 
also conducted.

This service is overwhelmingly appreciated by the general public.

More areas are being patrolled, increasing the SHR’s presence, 
reach and visibility across the park.

Mountain Bike Patrols.
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World Environment Day – welcome to the whales

Trail clearing in Tankwa Karoo National Park

During winter, whales migrate 
from Antarctica to coastal waters 
around the southern tip of Africa. 
Southern right whales come 
close inshore to calve in great 
numbers. Humpback whales 
and Brydes’ whales can also be 
seen. The Knysna Region used 
World Environment day on 5 June 
to set up an information stall at 
Brenton-on-Sea beach. Children’s 
activities on the beach included 
identification of shore animal 
species and building sand marine 
animals.

After a long absence from the Tankwa Karoo National Park, the Boland Region was able to start working weekends 
again. This included clearing and marking the Malansgat Kloof hiking trail, and picking up garbage.



Pretoria Region presented a webinar to support World Rangers Day 2021. It was arguably one of the most successful 
and widely watched of the many webinars presented during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2021.

The webinar showcased the dedication, sacrifice and work of our Rangers.

Snippets of member activities (continued)
World Ranger Day

Member activities (continued)
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Tree labelling Landscape survey 

Harkerville and Diepwalle Forests are situated between 
Plettenberg Bay and Knysna, and are sections of the 
Garden Route National Park. Members of the Knysna and 
Tsitsikamma Regions have an ongoing project to label the 
beautiful indigenous trees close to the hiking trails. The 
plastic labels are in English, Latin and Xhoza.

The KwaZulu-Natal Region assisted SANParks in the 
Golden Gate Highlands National Park to survey the 
terrain for the new campsite.
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These evenings are proving to be increasingly popular and besides owls, guests have been lucky to spot aardvark, 
serval, rhinos, jackals, nightjars and other nocturnal animals. After the night drive, delicious chicken burgers are enjoyed 
in the Rietvlei Nature Reserve’s lapa.

Snippets of member activities (continued)
“Owl Spotting” evenings

Member activities (continued)

Owl stones for guests at the Owl Spotting Evenings.
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Kids from the Charisma drop-in/care centre in Mamelodi were taken to Marakele National Park in September 2021.  
The kids attend presentations, go on bush walks, and participate in group games.

Kids2Parks
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Pretoria Region purchased two horses for the anti-poaching unit. Thanks to Airliner4Animals (A4A) for their kind, 
ongoing donations.

Snippets of member activities (continued)
Anti-poaching horses

Member activities (continued)
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Golf days

Pretoria Region held a successful 
Golf Day at the Skukuza Golf 
Course. During prize-giving 
we were able to acknowledge 
support from significant donors 
and congratulate winners. 
Substantial funds are raised for 
conservation projects. 

Knysna Region held held a fundraising  
golf day at PEZULA Championship Golf Course,  

with 96 happy golfers participating.  
Every tee box was sponsored and we  

realised a net income of R150 000.
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Who’s who (continued)

Regional chairpersons 
As at 1 July 2022

National project chairpersons
As at 1 July 2022

Region Name

Addo André du Plessis

Agulhas Rudi Perold

Bankenveld Martin Clark

Boland Jacqui Badenhorst

Bushveld Dave Drewett

Diamantveld Chrissie Damon

East Rand William Harmse

Free State Christo Louw

Highveld Gerhard Kotze

Johannesburg Grant Coleman

Johannesburg South Yusuf Dockrat

Karoo Flippie Verwey

Knysna Sabine Schukai

KwaZulu-Natal Ian Catt

Letaba Eric Makondo

Limpopo Derek Venter

Lowveld Kevin Conway

Magalies Louis Lemmer

Marakele Marius Ferreira

Midrand Ansunette Snyman

Mountain Zebra Willem Olivier

Pretoria Riaan Potgieter

Table Mountain Kenneth Carden

Tsitsikamma Johan Schlechter

Vaal Triangle Andries Mans

Virtual Dalene Preston

Waterberg Susan Otto

West Coast Dries Venter

West Rand Simon Ridge

Wilderness Barend Meintjes

National Project Name 

Bush Camps Frank Louw

Conservation Services John Turner

Embrace Elize Smith

Interpretation Tanja Richter

JHR Carmin Mohr

K9 Project Watchdog Moira Shein

Skills development Geoffrey Lautenbach

Sports events Werner Eksteen
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Merit award winners
For the year ended 31 March 2022 awarded at the September 2022 indaba

Conservation partner certificates 
We award conservation partner certificates to partners who provide material pro-bono services or donations. The criteria 
for receiving a conservation partner certificate are based on in-kind or Rand value donated. 

Awards are as follows:

Elephant award – for donations of 
more than R1 million

None awarded

Rhino award – for donations of 
more than R500 000

Coca Cola Beverages SA (Pty) Ltd

Buffalo award – for donations of 
more than R250 000

None awarded

Lion award – for donations of more 
than R100 000

• Airliner 4 Animals

• MSA Devco (Pty) Ltd

• Gravel Junction Wine and Spirits (Pty) Ltd 

[Rhino Tears]

• Eben Karsten

• Amplify Investment Partners (Pty) Ltd

• Old Shanghai Firecracker Factory

• Norton Rose Fulbright

Leopard award – for donations of more than R20 000
• Ambleside Distillers, 

South Australia

• SASOL Group 
Services

• Zoo-Verein 
Wuppertal

• Struwig Trust

• MIP Holdings (Pty) 
Ltd

• Johan Henn

• Tshepe Investments

• Iain Power

• Truffle Asset 
Management (Pty) 
Ltd

• The Australian Rhino 
Project

• Zoos South Australia

• Sheva Investments

• Relate Trust

• Nut and Dry Fruit 
Exchange (Pty) Ltd 
[Golden Macs]

• Wildlands 
Conservation Trust

• Parks Shop North 
(Pty) Ltd [Tourvest]

• Edgar Droste Trust

• African Salt Works 
(Pty) Ltd

• Blankets for Baby 
Rhinos

• Rolf van Staden

• Rotary Hoedspruit

• Rallen (Pty) Ltd

• Bushveld Elephant 
Donations

• Edgar Garnet Woods 

Trust

• The Florence Ethel 
Carter Charitable 
Trust

• Sikkie Kajee and 
IoDSA

• CorLouis Boerdery 
(Edms) Bpk

• FG Connock 
Charitable Trust

• OK Foods Beaufort 
West

• S Sabbagha

• M van der Nest
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Who’s who (continued)

Initiatives of the year

Initiative Region

Lebombo Overland Eco Trail (LOET) Lowveld Region 

Newlands Forest Alien Invader Clearing Table Mountain Region

Phalaborwa Equestrian Unit Highveld, Magalies, Pretoria and East Rand Regions

Rabelais Hut Interpretation Centre Interpretation National Project

SHR Poster Awareness Campaign East Rand Region

Skukuza Early Childhood Development 
(ECD) Centre

Lowveld Region

Table Mountain K9 Unit K9 Watchdog National Project

West Coast Pelican Watch West Coast Region

Project of the year: 
Publication of “The Heart and Soul of the 
Tankwa Karoo National Park”

Ten years ago, SANParks approached the 
SANParks Honorary Rangers to research, 
document and publish the history of the 
Tankwa Karoo National Park and environs. 
Members of the SHR Boland Region took it 
upon themselves to complete this mammoth 
project and compiled a 160-page full colour 
book. The book includes the history of the 
area and useful information on the geology, 
vegetation and animals of the Tankwa Karoo 
National Parl. Proceeds from the sales of 
the book will be utilised to assist the park to 
reach its conservation objectives.
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West Rand  
RegionRegions of the year 

Large region of the year: West Rand Region

Small region of the year: Diamantveld Region

Diamantveld 
Region

Individual merit award winners 
We give lifetime awards (also called platinum merit awards) to SHR members and friends who provided exceptional 
service over several years. No platinum merit awards were presented at the 2022 Indaba. 

We presented gold merit awards to the 1% SHR members who contributed the most hours in the 2021/22 financial 
year. The recipients of these awards volunteered more than 1 101 hours.

Gold awards

Kobus Boolsen

Peter Brooks

Martin Engelbrecht

Ben Enslin

Norma Gardiner

Lynne Hapgood-Strickland

Ann Jackson

Lizet Kotze

Michael Kruger

Louis Lemmer

Riaan Potgieter

Dalene Preston

Arien Richardson

Brenda Scott

Valerie Stephens

Susan Steyn

Jimmy Telle

John Turner 

John van Dyk

Paul van Helden
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Who’s who (continued)

Jennifer Avery

Snowy Botha 

Alistair Burt

Rina Coetzee

Alice de Beer

Willem de Beer

Pieter de Bruyn

Beth Engelbrecht

Willie Engelbrecht

Khakie Ferreira 

Henriette Fourie

Lee Gosling

Lene Hansen

William Harmse

Rita Hinterer

Gerhard Kotze

Rheta Kruger

Doreen Malabela

Heather Matteucci

Keith McNair

Louis Minnie

Sterretjie Minnie

Michiel Moll

Gert Potgieter

Tanja Richter

Simon Ridge

Ella Roberts

John Roberts

Petro Schlaphoff

Walter Schmahl

Klarine Schutte

Norma Sharratt

Moira Shein

Ian Smith

Elize Smith

Alan Stark

Monica Stark

Michelle Sussman

Simone Thomson

Roberta Turner

Eileen van Helden

Almarie van Zyl

Nico van Zyl

Carol Veitch

Vito Viglietti

Peter Zietsman

Silver awards

The SHR presented silver merit awards to the top 4% members who volunteered more than 706 hours and bronze merit 
awards to the top 10% members who volunteered more than 375 hours.
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Dave Armstrong

Graeme Armstrong

Johan Becker

Maria Becker

Jenny Bell

Willem Bodenstein

Sandy Boolsen

Des Bothma

Paul Brett

Loren Bronkhorst

Carol Burt

Michele Buys

Ian Catt

Paul Colditz

Hantie Combrink

Jeanette Curling

Ralph Davey

Elzabe de Bruyn

Lounette de Jong

Dave Drewett

William Eliot

Ghita Erling

Susan Fouche

Rosemary Hancock

Cedric Hapgood-Strickland

Afke Hepkema

Luuk Hepkema

Koos Janse van Vuuren

June Johns

Wimpie Jonker

Ingrid Kitshoff

Nico Kleyn

Francois Kloppers 

Ettienne Kotze

Geoffrey Lautenbach

Catharina le Roux

Frank Louw

Wilna Loxley-Ford

Mandi Malan

Andries Mans

Myrtle Mans

Harry Mathebula

Bruce McDonald

Millard Mdluli

Beverley Moll

Ockert Nel

Monika O’Leary

Pieter Oosthuizen

Bonny Parr

Matthew Patrick

Abramie Potgieter

Pieter Prinsloo

Colleen Purdon

Alexander Robertson

Charlie Rose

Lynda Rose

Mark Roxburgh

Kenneth Schmidt

Hennie Serdyn

Melanie Smith

O’Brien Smith

Ansunette Snyman

Lukas Stoltz

Phillip Strauss

Hestia Swanepoel

Mathilda Swanepoel

Isabel Taljaard

Barbara Taylor

Charl Theart

Felicie Tillemans

Marlene Truter

Mike van den Berg

Andries van der Merwe

Lisa-Mari van Renen

Maarten van Rooyen

Sandra van Rooyen

Hendrik van Tonder

Johan Verster

Marley Verster

Philippus Verwey

Frik Viljoen

Andrew Watt

David Webster

Sabine Whittle

Joan Wilkins

Brenda Wilson

Charles Wilson

Francois Wolfaardt

Franco Wright

Gadget Wright

Tracy Yates

Mike Zacharias

Peter Zacharias

Bronze awards



Who’s who (continued)

Veterans and long service  
Veterans
We award veteran status to members on the recommendation of their RMC and Exco, who have served a minimum of 
15 continuous years and are at least 65 years old. The following well-deserved members received veteran status:

Region Name

West Coast Alec Celliers

West Coast Janet Celliers

East Rand Barry Coppin

Limpopo Bruce Goetsch

Limpopo Charles Hardy

Limpopo Lois Hardy

West Coast Dirk Havenga

West Coast Mercia Smith

Table Mountain Susan Smith

West Coast Noeline van den Berg
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Long service
We are very proud of our long serving members and their substantial and ongoing contributions to conservation in  
South Africa. Members who have served more than 25 years are:

Region Name Years

Bankenveld John Botha 25
Addo Sidney Gowar 25
Lowveld Esrom Makhubela 25
Letaba Packson Netshisaulu 25
Highveld Lukas Oosthuizen 25
KwaZulu-Natal Nobby Yamawaki 25
Karoo Melvin de Klerk 26
Boland Willie Engelbrecht 26
Lowveld Otto Frauenstein 26
Johannesburg Grant Jamieson 26
Lowveld George Mabuza 26
Johannesburg Linda Sepp-Davies 26
Lowveld Andr van der Merwe 26
Bankenveld Susan du Toit 27
Table Mountain Raj Rajkumar 27
Karoo Ralie Claassen 28
Pretoria Gilbert Dekenah 28
Limpopo Lois Hardy 28
Lowveld Willie Potgieter 28
Free State Johan Snyman 28
Free State Dirk Bredenkamp 29
Karoo Japie Claassen 29
Pretoria Pieter Smit 29
Johannesburg Penny Brodie 30
KwaZulu-Natal Catharine Hanekom 30
Pretoria Michael Kokot 30
Pretoria Dr Shirley Kokot 30
Johannesburg John Turner 30
West Rand Peter Zietsman 30
Pretoria Ian Alexander 31
East Rand Clive Webber 31
East Rand Ernie Blom 32
Johannesburg Peter Ferrett 32
Limpopo Johan Niehaus 32
Pretoria Diederick Reinecke 32
Pretoria Matilda Reinecke 32
KwaZulu-Natal Karen Swanepoel 32
KwaZulu-Natal Khakie Ferreira 33
Limpopo Bruce Goetch 33
Johannesburg Maureen Schuil 33
Limpopo Martin Venter 33
Limpopo Charles Hardy 34
East Rand Gerald Thompson 34
Johannesburg Rob Beckwith 37
Pretoria Tom Hannay 37
East Rand Mike Hayhurst 37
KwaZulu-Natal Agatha Joubert 37
East Rand Rosalind Lindeque 37
Boland Francois Kloppers 39
Boland Dinkie Marais 41
Pretoria Pierre Delaney 42
Johannesburg Janssen Davies 44
Lowveld Riël du Toit 50
Wilderness Tienie Leonard 55
Addo Dudley Schoof 58
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